

Wastewater-based epidemiology:

A framework to identify and prioritise health determinants for wastewater monitoring

June 2021

Dr Carla Eaton Dr Sarah Coxon Dr Isabelle Pattis Dr Brent Gilpin

REVIEWED BY:Dr Joanne Hewitt & Andrew ChappellPREPARED FOR:Ministry of HealthCLIENT REPORT NO:FW21021

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Author

Dr. Carla Eaton

Senior Scientist,

Water & Biowaste

Peer reviewer

Andrew Chappell

Senior Scientist, Health & Environment Management Review

Dr Jan Powell Service Lead

E/S/R Wastewater-based epidemiology: A framework to identify and prioritise health determinants for wastewater monitoring

DISCLAIMER

The Institute of Environmental Science and Research Limited (ESR) has used all reasonable endeavours to ensure that the information contained in this client report is accurate. However, ESR does not give any express or implied warranty as to the completeness of the information contained in this client report or that it will be suitable for any purposes other than those specifically contemplated during the Project or agreed by ESR and the Client.

CONTENTS

EX	ECU	TIVE SUMMARY	1
1.	INT	RODUCTION	5
	1.1	BACKGROUND	5
	1.2	APPROACH AND SCOPE	6
2.	WA	STEWATER EPIDEMIOLOGY	7
	2.1	WHAT IS WASTEWATER-BASED EPIDEMIOLOGY?	7
		2.1.1 Advantages of wastewater-based methods	9
		2.1.2 Limitations of wastewater-based methods	9
		2.1.3 Ethical and social considerations1	0
	2.2	OVERVIEW OF HEALTH DETERMINANTS THAT ARE CURRENTLY MONITORED OR ARE CANDIDATES FOR WASTEWATER MONITORING 1	1
		2.2.1 Illicit substances1	1
		2.2.2 New psychoactive substances1	3
		2.2.3 Legal substances1	4
		2.2.4 Infectious diseases1	6
		2.2.5 Antimicrobial resistance1	9
		2.2.6 Environmental contaminants2	20
		2.2.7 Disease biomarkers2	21
3.	FR	AMEWORK FOR EVALUATING HEALTH DETERMINANTS	
	FO	R INCLUSION IN WASTEWATER MONITORING2	3
	3.1	PHASE 1: EVALUATION OF CANDIDATE HEALTH DETERMINANTS	23
		3.1.1 Availability of data	23
		3.1.2 Scientific validity	24
		3.1.3 Sensitivity to changes	24
		3.1.4 Consistency	24
		3.1.5 Comparability2	25
		3.1.6 Methodologically sound measurement2	25
		3.1.7 Intelligible and easily interpreted2	26
		3.1.8 Is the indicator able to be disaggregated?2	27
		3.1.9 Timely2	27
		3.1.10 Public health impact	27

		3.1.11 Presence of alternative methodologies for monitoring the health determinant	28
	3.2	PHASE 2: IDENTIFICATION AND EVALUATION OF BIOMARKERS	28
		3.2.1 Identification of potential biomarkers	28
		3.2.2 Is the biomarker excreted?	29
		3.2.3 Is the biomarker stable?	29
		3.2.4 Is the biomarker specific for human exposure to the health determinant?	30
		3.2.5 Can you detect/extract the biomarker from wastewater	30
		3.2.6 Accuracy and validation	32
	3.3	CONCLUSIONS	33
4.	EVA THE	LUATION OF HEALTH DETERMINANT CANDIDATES VIA WASTEWATER MONITORING FRAMEWORK	34
	7.1	CONCERN BIOMONITORING SURVEYS	34
		4.1.1 Framework evaluation – POP surveys	35
		4.1.2 Framework evaluation – selected chemicals of concern surveys	36
	4.2	ILLICIT SUBSTANCES	38
		4.2.1 Framework evaluation – morphine	38
		4.2.2 Framework evaluation - LSD	39
	4.3	NEW PSYCHOACTIVE SUBSTANCES	39
		4.3.1 Framework evaluation	39
	4.4	INFECTIOUS DISEASES	40
		4.4.1 Framework evaluation – COVID-19	40
5.	CON	ICLUSIONS	12
APP	ENC	DIX	14
REF	ERE	NCES	54

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 1. EXAMPLES OF ILLICIT SUBSTANCES THAT HAVE BEEN INVESTIGATED USING A WBE APPROACH.	. 12
TABLE 2. SUMMARY OF GLOBAL NEW PSYCHOACTIVE SUBSTANCES (NPS) IN WASTEWATER MONITORING STUDIES	. 44
TABLE 3. ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH INDICATOR SELECTION CRITERIA	. 48
TABLE 4. PERSISTENT ORGANIC POLLUTANTS (POPS) LISTED IN THE STOCKHOL CONVENTION.	.M . 49
TABLE 5. PERSISTENT ORGANIC POLLUTANTS (POPS) DETECTED IN NEW ZEALA BREAST MILK AND SERUM BIOMONITORING SURVEYS	ND . 50
TABLE 6. FREQUENCY OF DETECTION OF SELECTED CHEMICALS OF CONCERN I ADULT AND CHILD BLOOD AND URINE.	N . 52

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE 1 EVALUATION TREE FOR THE PROPOSED WBE FRAMEWORK
FIGURE 2 OVERVIEW OF THE CONCEPT OF WASTEWATER-BASED EPIDEMIOLOGY.
FIGURE 3 OVERVIEW OF THE POTENTIAL COMPOUNDS OF INTEREST FOR
WASTEWATER-BASED EPIDEMIOLOGY

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Wastewater-based epidemiology (WBE) is based on the premise that many of the chemicals or microorganisms we are exposed to in our environment can be absorbed, metabolised, and excreted in urine or faeces, and may be detectable in wastewater. Changes in the levels of these substances in wastewater can then be used to infer exposure. Endogenous markers of human health can also be excreted in urine or faeces, and therefore could also be evaluated by WBE.

In this report the term **biomarker** refers to any human excretion product, chemical or biological, which could function as an indicator of consumption or exposure to environmental hazards, or of the human health state. The range of chemicals people could be potentially exposed to in the environment, compounds which can be consumed (both toxic and non-toxic), and endogenous health factors that could be assessed by wastewater monitoring are collectively referred to as **health determinants**¹ throughout this report.

WBE programmes are currently employed in New Zealand to monitor consumption of illicit substances in conjunction with the New Zealand Police, and for surveillance for SARS-CoV-2 as part of the New Zealand COVID-19 response.

Wastewater-Based Epidemiology has the potential to provide valuable insight into a wide range of other health determinants, including consumption of new psychoactive substances (NPS) and a range of legal substances, including alcohol, tobacco, caffeine, over-the-counter pain relievers and antimicrobials, as well as exposure to environmental contaminants and infectious diseases. It may also have a role in monitoring the rise of antimicrobial resistance (AMR), and to screen communities for endogenous biomarkers of disease.

Not all health determinants will be suitable for wastewater monitoring. The aim of this report is to develop a framework for the evaluation of candidate biomarkers of health determinants. Criteria are formulated based on current knowledge of the requirements for successful monitoring, inclusion of relevant criteria involved in the selection of the New Zealand Environmental Health Indicators (EHIs), and the essential requirement for the health determinant to relate to an issue of significant public health concern in New Zealand.

The framework developed herein consists of two phases: the initial evaluation of candidate health determinants based on criteria similar to those used in selection of EHIs, followed by an assessment of potential biomarkers.

The first criteria to consider is whether the candidate health determinant relates to a significant public health or scientific issue which would benefit from better understanding at a population level. WBE does not need to provide a complete solution but it must contribute at least an additive benefit, that could prompt further action or enable the evaluation of policies or activities. The segmentation of WBE is by its nature restricted by geographical differences defined by the catchments tested. If assessment or actions require targeting to specific population subgroups based on gender, ethnicity, age group, health status etc, WBE is not

¹ https://www.who.int/news-room/q-a-detail/determinants-of-health

able to provide this differentiation. Similarly, if to be meaningful, data needs to be expressed at the individual level or relative to another metric (eg, per kg body weight), a WBE approach is not suitable.

Secondly, it is important to consider if alternative approaches are already being used to monitor the candidate health determinant. The presence of alternative methodologies does not necessarily preclude a WBE approach and may be useful for validation/calibration of wastewater monitoring approaches. However, where alternative methodologies do exist, wastewater monitoring would need to either provide a valuable complementary approach, as seen for COVID-19, or be better than the current approach (ie, faster, more reliable, cheaper).

To be suitable for wastewater-based monitoring, certain background information must be available for both the health determinant and its potential biomarker. It is essential that changes in levels of the biomarker, or detection of a previously absent biomarker, infers changes in prevalence of the associated health determinant. Sufficient knowledge should also exist to allow development of sound detection methodology, which produces easily interpretable results. Ideally this methodology should be consistent with approaches used internationally to allow for comparisons.

The relative importance of some criteria depends on whether wastewater monitoring would be used in a surveillance-based capacity (ie, presence/absence), or for long-term quantitative monitoring (eg, illicit substances). For surveillance approaches it is essential that monitoring provide timely data to allow for rapid public health responses. For long-term monitoring, it is important that the relationship between the health determinant and its chosen biomarker is stable to allow for temporal comparisons.

In the second phase of the framework, a biomarker specific for the candidate health determinant must be identified and evaluated to determine its suitability for wastewater monitoring. Suitable biomarkers must be:

- Excreted in urine or faeces in sufficient levels to be detected in wastewater.
- Sufficiently stable in wastewater, including in-sewer and during collection, transport and storage.
- Specifically present in wastewater due to human excretion. Other sources contributing to the presence of the biomarker in wastewater could confound measurements. For this reason, it may be preferable to monitor for human-specific metabolites of the biomarker of interest, particularly where non-human contribution of the parent compound to wastewater is unavoidable.
- Able to be extracted and quantified from wastewater with sufficient accuracy, reliability, and reproducibility.

An evaluation tree summarising considerations within this framework is presented in Figure 1.

This report presents example framework evaluations for several candidate health determinants, including both suitable and non-suitable candidates to highlight the evaluation process. For example, illicit drug consumption represents an ideal candidate for wastewater monitoring and is a significant public health issue in New Zealand. Other methodologies are currently used for estimating illicit drug use, including surveys, and information on drug seizures and hospital admissions. However, wastewater monitoring is a valuable

complementary approach, providing un-biased, evidence-based, population level results. Five drugs are routinely monitored in New Zealand: methamphetamine, cocaine, fentanyl, heroin and MDMA. For each of these either the drug itself or a human-specific metabolite is used as the biomarker of consumption. These biomarkers are all excreted in urine and are sufficiently stable for monitoring. Well-established methodologies are utilised for extraction and detection of these biomarkers from wastewater, and specific controls are used to ensure results are accurate and reliable. Consumption levels can be quantified and related to the size of the population within the catchment (eg, mg/day/1000 people). Levels can be compared between regions and changes over time can be monitored to indicate consumption trends.

Conversely, several candidate health determinants were deemed not suitable for wastewater monitoring due to a variety of reasons. These include:

- LSD consumption: the active dose of LSD is very low meaning very little is consumed. Unless a large number of people were consuming LSD within the same catchment zone it is unlikely that it would be detectable in wastewater.
- Illicit morphine consumption: morphine can be both a legally prescribed drug and recreationally consumed as an illicit drug. As it would be impossible to distinguish between these two sources of morphine through wastewater monitoring, this approach is unsuitable.
- Persistent organic pollutants (POPs): the WBE framework was used to assess whether wastewater monitoring could replace the biomonitoring surveys currently used for POPs. POPs are monitored as a requirement of the Stockholm Convention, and the World Health Organisation has established protocol guidelines so that monitoring data can be comparable between member countries. Thus, wastewater monitoring should not replace the biomonitoring surveys. Its suitability as a complementary approach was therefore assessed. However, as POPs often persist for long periods in body and excretion rates are generally very low, they will likely be very difficult to monitor in wastewater. Additionally, WBE data is likely not particularly useful for many of these chemicals as effects of exposure are often dosage-dependent and this information would be lost at the population level. Thus, most POPs would likely be unsuitable candidates for wastewater monitoring.

This report highlights the considerable potential that exists for expansion of wastewater monitoring for infectious diseases. The current SARS-CoV-2 wastewater monitoring programme forms an essential part of the national COVID-19 response. This could be expanded into a border health capacity through monitoring of wastewater from inbound international aircraft, and at international airports. Considerable wastewater monitoring infrastructure has been established both in New Zealand and around the world as part of the COVID-19 response. This infrastructure could be adapted to monitor for new emerging infectious diseases, providing an important surveillance role.

Decisions around health determinants that could be implemented into WBE surveillance activities need to be informed by the evaluation framework, perceived benefits to public health in New Zealand, and the limitations of wastewater monitoring outlined in this report. Further, all new WBE programmes will need to carefully consider all potential social and ethical implications, and responsibilities under Te Tiriti o Waitangi.



Can it be accurately, reliably and reproducibly extracted and quantified from wastewater?



4

Figure 1 Evaluation tree for the proposed WBE framework

Green and red indicate stop/go criteria for assessment of health determinants and biomarkers. Orange is used to indicate criteria where extra consideration must be given. A WBE approach is not necessarily precluded, as for the red options, but the purpose of the monitoring must be weighed against potential limitations with regards to the criteria. Further detail on the considerations associated with these criteria is provided in the main text.



1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 BACKGROUND

Wastewater contains a wide variety of biological and chemical markers that are excreted in urine and faeces. The analysis of wastewater therefore has the potential to reveal important insights into community exposure to, or consumption of, chemicals, microorganisms and other substances of environmental and public health significance (Vitale et al 2021). The approach is based on the principle that many substances ingested or absorbed by the human body are in turn excreted (either unchanged, or as metabolites) in the urine and/or faeces. As such, the concentrations of these compounds in urban wastewater may reflect the health and/or habits of the community serviced by the wastewater network.

Currently, exposure to hazardous substances or organisms is generally monitored through conventional epidemiological tools, including biomonitoring surveys, reporting data (eg, notifiable diseases, seizures, or arrests in relation to illicit substances) or self-reporting surveys and questionnaires (Bowes and Halden 2019). However, many of these methods are limited by cost and/or scale, meaning they are undertaken infrequently or with small sample sizes. Other methods are subject to reporting bias by participants, or slow turnaround of data.

Wastewater-based epidemiology provides a powerful complementary tool for monitoring overall population health and the spread of disease. It can provide rapid, un-biased monitoring data, allowing prompt public health responses. Using this approach, populations can be monitored en masse meaning potentially millions of people can be screened, a feat impossible through classic clinical screening approaches. Additionally, it has the potential to not only monitor for exposure to hazards but also for endogenous markers of disease, allowing identification of at-risk regions (Lorenzo and Pico 2019).

However, there are limitations to wastewater monitoring which need to be addressed in order to fully optimise this tool. Wastewater is a complex matrix from which extraction and detection of biomarkers can be extremely difficult. Further, each component of the back calculations used to relate the detected analyte with population exposure or behaviour needs assessing. For example, accurately estimating the size of the population within a catchment zone can be challenging, particularly given their dynamic nature with constant movements of people in and out (Rico et al 2017). Thus, each monitoring programme requires rigorous optimisation and validation to ensure accurate and reliable detection. This can be both costly and time-consuming.

The potential of WBE as an important public health tool has been highlighted by its recent use in the global COVID-19 response. However, the full potential of wastewater monitoring has yet to be realised, and future applications are potentially limitless.



1.2 APPROACH AND SCOPE

This report describes a framework that could support the Ministry of Health in identifying and prioritising health determinants that could be monitored through wastewater surveillance. It includes information that has been gathered from published scientific literature, organisational and technical reports, grey literature and discussion with experts in the field of WBE. The report includes:

- A literature review of the use of WBE internationally, including what microorganisms, chemicals, biomarkers or emerging hazards are currently being monitored, or considered for monitoring, through wastewater surveillance. This is intended as a highlevel review, rather than an in-depth assessment of all available literature for each potential hazard.
- A framework for assessing potential health determinants for inclusion in wastewater monitoring, which includes priority criteria that are aligned with the Environmental Health Surveillance Programme, including Environmental Health Indicators (EHI) research.
- Comments on environmental hazards that the Ministry of Health and ESR may be considering recommending for inclusion in wastewater surveillance.
- Evaluation of whether it may be appropriate for wastewater monitoring to replace biomonitoring surveys such as the Persistent Organic Pollutants blood and urine biomonitoring surveys.

Monitoring for exposure to environmental hazards that occurs as a result of workplace exposure is out of scope of this report, as this is a WorkSafe responsibility.

2. WASTEWATER EPIDEMIOLOGY

2.1 WHAT IS WASTEWATER-BASED EPIDEMIOLOGY?

Wastewater-based epidemiology (WBE), also known as wastewater-based surveillance or sewage-based epidemiology is a rapidly developing, multi-disciplinary approach to monitoring the health and wellbeing of people within a wastewater catchment area, by analysing wastewaters for the presence of various chemicals, metabolites, biomarkers and/or microorganisms (Daughton 2018; Lorenzo and Picó 2019; Vitale et al 2021). The technique is based on the principle that any molecule ingested or absorbed by the human body will be excreted in the urine and/or faeces, either unchanged or as metabolites of the parent compound (Fig. 1). Similarly, many microorganisms in urban sewage can therefore reflect the extent to which the population serviced by the sewerage network is exposed to a hazard (Castiglioni et al 2013). The multidisciplinary approach of WBE incorporates concepts of chemistry, biology, mathematics, economics, engineering, epidemiology, public health, social science, forensic science, law and criminology (Vitale et al 2021). Data provided by WBE may be qualitative and/or quantitative.



Figure 2 Overview of the concept of wastewater-based epidemiology. Reproduced from Vitale et al (2021).

E/S/R Wastewater-based epidemiology: A framework to identify and prioritise health determinants for wastewater monitoring The most well-developed application for WBE is the analysis of consumption of various legal and illicit drugs by a population (Lorenzo and Picó 2019). However, the potential applications for WBE are rapidly expanding. It is currently being employed as a tool to study consumption of substances such as nicotine, alcohol and caffeine, as well as emerging substances such as new psychoactive substances (NPS); exposure to environmental contaminants such as pesticides; surveillance for microbial pathogens such as poliovirus or SARS-CoV-2; and surveillance for the emergence of antimicrobial resistance (Vitale et al 2021) (Fig. 2). There is also growing interest in the potential to monitor endogenous disease-associated biomarkers to estimate the prevalence of certain diseases within communities.



Figure 3 Overview of the potential compounds of interest for wastewater-based epidemiology. Reproduced from Manning and Walton (2020b).

In communities with reticulated sewage systems, samples are collected from the influent to the wastewater treatment plant (WWTP). These samples are representative of the whole community connected to the reticulation and are typically collected as composite samples over 24 hours (Lorenzo and Picó 2019). The wastewater samples are considered a complex matrix, with high concentrations of compounds that can hinder the detection of target compounds, which are often present at trace levels. Sample preparation and analysis will depend on the specific analyte(s) or biomarkers being assessed, but commonly incudes pre-treatment with a combination of filtration or centrifugation and solid-phase extraction to concentrate analytes. Samples are then analysed using techniques such as liquid chromatography and mass spectrometry for chemical analytes, and PCR or culture-based methods for infectious agents (Lorenzo and Picó 2019). If sufficient information is available regarding the volume or flow of wastewater and the population in the catchment, results can be expressed on a per capita basis. Trends in activity (eg, variation in drug consumption through the week or in certain locations) or the impact of specific interventions (eg, policy change) can also be monitored.

2.1.1 Advantages of wastewater-based methods

Wastewater-based epidemiology has several advantages over traditional epidemiological techniques such as retrospective data analysis, surveys and/or direct monitoring of large numbers of individuals. Wastewater-based methods are non-invasive, produce non-biased (objective) data and are anonymous. This avoids problems associated with questionnairebased research, where with respect to illicit substances in particular, participants may not want to disclose unlawful activities, or indeed may not even know exactly what they are consuming. Data can be obtained much more rapidly than most classic epidemiological methods, and generally covers a much broader range of the population (Castiglioni et al 2013; Lorenzo and Picó 2019; Vitale et al 2021). For example, results from wastewater monitoring for SARS-CoV-2 can be rapidly produced (often within 24-48 hours from receipt of samples), and cases can even be detected in advance of detection by clinical screening (WHO 2020b). Additionally, millions of people can be screened in a relatively short period of time, versus the comparatively small number that can be assessed by clinical screening at any one time. Costs of wastewater monitoring may also be less than for some other study techniques, as once an analysis workflow has been established and validated, continual monitoring may be relatively inexpensive. Additionally, some health determinants, such as illicit substances, can be screened together using the same analysis workflow which can greatly reduce costs.

2.1.2 Limitations of wastewater-based methods

A major limitation of WBE is the uncertainty that can be associated with almost every step of the process (Lorenzo and Pico 2019). Selection of a suitable biomarker for a given health determinant requires considerable pre-existing knowledge around its metabolism and stability in wastewater, which is often lacking. Additionally, some biomarkers tend to adhere to surfaces and can be lost within the sewage system, thereby artificially reducing the perceived presence of that biomarker. In cases where a human-specific metabolite of a biomarker is monitored, back-calculations must be performed to estimate the concentration of the parent compound, which can be difficult to accurately determine. Efficient extraction and detection of biomarkers from wastewater can be very difficult due to the presence of inhibitors, and the potentially low abundance of the biomarker. Monitoring workflows for each new biomarker must go through rigorous optimisation and validation to ensure validity of the results.

Resulting detection values must be corrected based on flow rate and population size. Accurate estimation of population size can be a limitation of WBE approaches (Castiglioni et al 2013; Vitale et al 2021). Traditional methods of estimating population size have included using census data or information from the design capacities of the WWTPs, estimation based on ammonia concentrations, or using hydrochemical parameters (Castiglioni et al 2013). More recently, the notion of identifying an endogenous human biomarker present in the urine of all individuals as a proxy for estimating population size has been explored (Rico et al 2017). The possibility of using mobile phone activity patterns has also been proposed (Thomas et al 2017).

2.1.3 Ethical and social considerations

As WBE is an emerging technology, ethical and public acceptance issues are being actively discussed by scientists, ethicists and policymakers. Although the World Health Organisation (WHO) have issued ethical guidelines for public health surveillance based on principles of common good, equity, respect and good governance (WHO 2017), there is no current ethical blueprint specifically for the use of WBE (Pritchard et al 2016; Daughton et al 2018; Manning and Walton 2020a, 2020b). In general, there tends to be little oversight of WBE technologies by research ethics committees, as the data collected by WBE is not identifiable to individuals and is therefore not considered to raise major ethical concerns (Hall et al 2012; Manning and Walton 2020a). Together with the assumed benefits of WBE (ie, in providing public health data), this lack of 'direct harm' to individuals is used to justify the impingement on participants' autonomy (ie, the inability to gain consent) (Hall et al 2012). Others, including the United States Court of Appeals, have further suggested that there is no reasonable expectation of privacy in wastewater flowing through a public sewer (Gable et al 2020).

The use of WBE within small communities, or specific sub-populations or neighbourhoods does, however, involve ethical risk, as communities may be identified and experience indirect harm (Hall et al 2012; Pritchard et al 2016; Gable et al 2020; Manning and Walton 2020a). This could include creating or exacerbating stigmatisation of residents within the catchment area, but could also extend to policy or judicial responses, or economic impacts that adversely affect the community (Hall et al 2012; Pritchard et al 2016). For example, if a community were found to have 'impaired collective health' this could affect property values, or even health insurances. This raises the question of what would happen if the responsible stressor(s) cannot be identified, or cost-effective mitigation cannot be implemented? Would land use decisions or related regulations be able to be adapted in response to the findings of WBE for a catchment (eq, if exposure to contaminants is revealed)? Some cities have opted out of wastewater-based monitoring for illicit substances for fear of being perceived as 'hot spots' of drug use (Daughton et al, 2018). Gable et al (2020) also raised questions about how the use of wastewater monitoring could impact civil liberties. For example, whilst WBE for SARS-CoV-2 could provide the opportunity to target resources and supporting infrastructure to communities where the virus is detected or has a higher prevalence (eq, increased testing facilities, targeted public health advice), such testing could also trigger actions that directly affect the movement of those communities through localised lockdowns or quarantines. The misrepresentation or miscommunication of WBE data, wilful or otherwise, by media or authorities, could amplify these harms for small communities (Pritchard et al 2016).

As WBE technologies progress and develop into new areas, there needs to be continued consideration given to ethical and public acceptance issues, and how the science and data assets are governed (Manning and Walton 2020a). A recent review by Manning and Walton (2020a) of the ethical and governance issues relating to WBE discussed several common ethical frameworks and how they might be applied to WBE, as well as issues around data governance. The issues were considered in the specific Aotearoa New Zealand context, with Māori rights and interests as a central consideration. Further, an interview-based study by ESR's Social Science Team that explored stakeholder views on ethical approaches to WBE (Manning and Walton 2020b) concluded that a Responsible Research and Innovation (RRI) approach was most appropriate for constructing an ethical framework for WBE, with robust

internal assessment processes that reflect the perspectives of different stakeholders, including Māori as partners under Te Tiriti o Waitangi.

Effective and ethical implementation of public health policy requires a high level of public trust in the motives and actions of those involved, and in the quality and validity of the evidence underpinning policies and decisions (Canadian Water Network 2020; Manning and Walton 2020a). Careful consideration must be given at the outset as to how wastewater monitoring data is likely to be collected, disseminated and used, and the ethical concerns that will inevitably be invoked, particularly for smaller communities (Canadian Water Network 2020). Early community engagement will therefore be key to developing a proactive approach to future ethical issues.

2.2 OVERVIEW OF HEALTH DETERMINANTS THAT ARE CURRENTLY MONITORED OR ARE CANDIDATES FOR WASTEWATER MONITORING

2.2.1 Illicit substances

Illicit or illegal substances are controlled in New Zealand by the Misuse of Drugs Act 1975. They are classified into three classes based on the risk of harm they pose to users². These are class A (very high risk), which includes methamphetamine, magic mushrooms, cocaine, heroin and LSD; class B (high risk), which includes cannabis oil, hashish, morphine, opium, ecstasy and a range of amphetamine-like substances; and class C (moderate risk), which includes cannabis seeds, cannabis plants and codeine. It is an offense against the Misuse of Drugs Act to use, possess, cultivate or traffic these substances. In 2001, Christian Daughton of the US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) first proposed the idea of screening wastewater for illicit substances (Daughton 2001). He proposed that wastewater monitoring could be an effective, non-intrusive method for assessing usage of these substances at the community level. The first study using this approach was published in 2005 (Zuccato et al 2005). In this study, the presence of cocaine and its metabolite benzoylecgonine was detected in wastewater from four WWTP across Italy. The authors proposed that this methodology could be refined to become an important tool for monitoring the abuse of illicit substances. This approach has since undergone rapid global expansion to monitor a range of illicit substances across the world (Table 1). In 2010, the European Network Sewage Analysis CORe group Europe (SCORE) was established, with the aim of standardising approaches for WBE³. In 2012 they published their first study comparing illicit substance use across 19 European cities (Thomas et al 2012). A comprehensive list of WBE studies of illicit drug consumption up until early 2015 can be found in Castiglioni and Gracia-Lor (2016). Results from global wastewater monitoring for illicit substances provides an important reference used by the UNODC (United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime) to monitor global changes in drug consumption (United Nations 2020).

In addition to these large-scale studies, wastewater monitoring can also be used on a small scale. For example, monitoring drug usage within prisons (Postigo et al 2011; Brewer et al 2016) or schools (Panawennage et al 2011); or for monitoring changes in usage during special

² https://www.police.govt.nz/advice/drugs-and-alcohol/illicit-drugs-offences-and-penalties

³ https://score-cost.eu/

events or holidays (Bijlsma et al 2009; van Nuijs et al 2011b). Recently it was also used to assess changes in illicit substance use during COVID-19 lockdown in Innsbruck, Austria (Reinstadler et al 2021).

New Zealand has an active programme monitoring illicit drugs in wastewater, conducted by ESR and funded by the New Zealand Police. Monitoring began in December 2016 in Christchurch and Rosedale, Auckland. In November 2018, this programme was expanded nationwide, with approximately 75% of the population now covered⁴. This programme monitors for the consumption of methamphetamine, MDMA (ecstasy), cocaine, fentanyl and heroin. In addition to these substances, cannabis consumption is also currently being monitored at five sites within New Zealand. However, certain characteristics of cannabis – such as it being lipophilic, not dissolving well in water and its tendency to stick to surfaces such as wastewater pipes – have made analysis in wastewater more difficult. Additionally, due to the considerable chemical differences between cannabis and the other illicit substances being monitored it cannot be added to the same analysis workflow. At this stage there is still too much uncertainty for cannabis measurements to be reliably quantifiable. However, the monitoring data can still be used in trend analyses.

Illicit substance	Reference
Cocaine	Zuccato et al 2005; Khan et al 2014; Ort et al 2014; Bijlsma et al 2021; Reinstadler et al 2021
Methamphetamine	Zuccato et al 2011; Khan et al 2014; Ort et al 2014; Bijlsma et al 2021; Reinstadler et al 2021
Cannabis	Zuccato et al 2011; Khan et al 2014; Ort et al 2014; Bijlsma et al 2021
Heroin	Zuccato et al 2011; Khan et al 2014
MDMA (ecstasy)	Khan et al 2014; Ort et al 2014; Bijlsma et al 2021; Reinstadler et al 2021
Amphetamine	Khan et al 2014; Ort et al 2014; Bijlsma et al 2021; Reinstadler et al 2021
LSD	Postigo et al 2011

Table 1.	Examples	of illicit substa	nces that h	ave been i	investigated	using a W	BE approach.
	Examples	or mich Subsit	moos mat n		mestigatea	using u m	BE approach.

⁴ https://www.police.govt.nz/sites/default/files/publications/wastewater-national-overview-q-1-2020-findings.pdf

2.2.2 New psychoactive substances

In the early 2000s New Zealand began to experience an influx of unregulated new psychoactive substances (NPS) colloquially known as legal highs, party pills, herbal highs, or synthetic cannabis. These drugs were often sold in dairies and liquor stores, and their use frequently led to health and social issues including seizures, psychosis and aggression. In July 2013, to protect the health of New Zealanders, the government introduced the Psychoactive Substances Act. Its aim is to regulate sale, importation and manufacture of NPS. Products proven to be of low risk can be approved for regulated sale by the Psychoactive Substances Regulatory Authority. However, as yet no NPS have been approved⁵. If a NPS is not approved by this authority it is illegal. New psychoactive substances are generally new compounds designed to mimic known illicit drugs; however, they can also include pharmaceuticals which are abused for recreational purposes, such as ketamine and fentanyl (Gent and Paul 2021). New psychoactive substances are commonly produced by manufacturers making minor changes to the chemical structure of existing illicit drugs (Tracy et al 2017). These compounds are often undetectable by routine drug testing methods. The prevalence and variety of NPS is expanding rapidly, with almost 900 NPS monitored by the UNODC (United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime) by 2018 (Shafi et al 2020). These compounds generally fall into four classes:

• Cannabinoids or synthetic cannabinoid receptor agonists (SCRAs):

Chemicals related to tetrahydrocannabinol (THC), the main psychoactive compound in cannabis. There are more than 150 different SCRAs (commonly known as Spice), including the highly potent JWH-018 (Tracy et al 2017).

• Hallucinogens:

These are subdivided into psychedelics, which are similar to LSD (lysergic acid dimethylamide) or psilocybin (magic mushrooms); and dissociatives, which are similar to the general anaesthetics ketamine and phencyclidine (PCP) (Tracy et al 2017).

- Stimulants: Chemicals related to MDMA (ecstasy), cocaine and amphetamines. A well-known example is mephedrone (bath salts) (Tracy et al 2017; Gent and Paul 2021).
- Depressants:

These are subdivided into opioids, which are similar to morphine, and include novel fentanyls; and benzodiazepenes, which are similar to diazepam, and include diclazepam and flubromazepam (Tracy et al 2017; Gent and Paul 2021)

Traditional methods for monitoring NPS use mirror those for illicit substances, including surveys, drug seizures, police intelligence, hospital admission data and forensic toxicology, all with known limitations (Bade et al 2019b; 2019c). Over the past five years, wastewater monitoring has emerged as an effective tool to profile the use of NPS (Bade et al 2021; Gent and Paul 2021). New psychoactive substances that have to-date been identified in wastewater monitoring are shown in Table A2. However, there are limitations to wastewater monitoring of NPS. These include the constant emergence of new compounds on the market, structural similarity to existing illicit substances, and lack of mass spectra and standards which makes reliable identification difficult (Bade et al 2019b). Additionally, the often-short lifespan of these substances on the market means development of methods and standards is seldom feasible

⁵ https://www.police.govt.nz/advice/drugs-and-alcohol/illicit-drugs-offences-and-penalties

(Bade et al 2019b). This has led to more qualitative suspect-screening approaches; however, these methods are less sensitive than targeted quantitative methods, exacerbating the difficulties associated with detecting the relatively low usage of these chemicals (Bade et al 2019b). Additionally, NPS tend to be extensively metabolised, and lack of pharmacokinetic data limits the ability to concurrently assess different metabolites (Thai et al 2016).

2.2.3 Legal substances

Alcohol

Alcohol is the most used recreational drug in New Zealand (Ministry of Health 2015). Alcohol abuse is linked to more than 200 health conditions and was responsible for more than 3 million deaths worldwide in 2016 alone (WHO 2018a). Consumption has traditionally been monitored through sales statistics and surveys. However, the accuracy of these methods is limited due to inaccurate survey responses and non-inclusion of privately prepared alcohol (eq. home brews) in sales statistics (Gao et al 2020). In recent years, wastewater monitoring has been developed as a complementary approach for assessing alcohol consumption, providing evidence-based data. Wastewater monitoring provides more real-time data than traditional approaches, allowing for investigation of changes in consumption over much shorter time periods than surveys or sales statistics (Andrés-Costa et al 2016). For example, changes in consumption can be monitored on a weekly or even daily basis to gain a clearer picture of alcohol consumption patterns (Daglioglu et al 2020; López-García et al 2020). Wastewater monitoring of alcohol is based on detection of ethyl sulfate (EtS), a metabolite produced by alcohol degradation (Andrés-Costa et al 2016). EtS is excreted in urine and is stable in wastewater over several days (Vitale et al 2021). Recent studies have shown that estimates of alcohol consumption based on wastewater monitoring are comparable to data obtained from survey or sale statistics (Chen et al 2019; Gao et al 2020).

• Tobacco

Similar to alcohol, tobacco consumption poses substantial risks to human health. Indeed, tobacco use is the leading cause of preventable death worldwide (WHO 2019). More than 8 million people die from tobacco use each year, with around 1.2 million of those deaths attributable to second-hand smoke (WHO 2019). Around 15% of New Zealand adults smoke tobacco⁶. The New Zealand government has set a goal that by 2025 less than 5% of adults will smoke (Smokefree 2025)⁷. Similar to alcohol, current methods for assessing tobacco consumption rely on sales and survey data. Wastewater monitoring for tobacco was pioneered in 2015 (Castiglioni et al 2015b) and is now used across the globe as a complementary approach to gain more accurate and timely measures of tobacco consumption. Numerous studies have shown good comparability between data from traditional methods and wastewater monitoring, validating the approach (Castiglioni et al 2015b; Chen et al 2019; Mackie et al 2019; Gao et al 2020). The biomarkers generally used in wastewater monitoring for tobacco are the metabolites cotinine and trans-3'-hydroxycotinine produced during

⁶ https://www.health.govt.nz/publication/annual-update-key-results-2017-18-new-zealand-health-survey

⁷ https://www.smokefree.org.nz/smokefree-in-action/smokefree-aotearoa-2025

metabolism of the addictive component of tobacco, nicotine (Castiglioni et al 2015b). However, it has been suggested that using anabasine or anatabine as the biomarker for nicotine may be more suitable, as they are specific for dried tobacco thereby removing any contribution from nicotine replacement therapies such as patches and gum (Tscharke et al 2016a).

• Caffeine

Caffeine is found in a range of substances including coffee, tea, soft drinks, energy drinks and even chocolate. It is estimated that more than 85% of the American population consume at least one caffeinated drink each day (Mitchell et al 2014). Perhaps unsurprisingly then, caffeine is purported to be the most widely used psychoactive substance around the globe (Ferré 2013). Caffeine acts as a psychostimulant in the same way that cocaine and amphetamine do, leading to perceived dependence (Ferré 2013). Excessive caffeine consumption can cause gastrointestinal and cardiorespiratory problems, insomnia and anxiety⁸. Given the wide variety of substances that contain caffeine it is easy to lose track of how much has been consumption at the community level (Gracia-Lor et al 2017a, 2020). In a recent study, wastewater monitoring was even used to show a correlation between tobacco and caffeine consumption in Italy (Gracia-Lor et al 2020).

• Over-the-counter pain relievers

Consumption of over-the-counter pain relief medications is extremely common in New Zealand. Paracetamol (known as acetaminophen overseas) is the most used pain relief in New Zealand⁹, and arguably the most consumed drug in the country¹⁰. However, prolonged usage has been linked to dose-dependent increases in cardiovascular, gastrointestinal and renal problems, and increased mortality (Roberts et al 2016). Additionally, paracetamol overdoses are responsible for numerous deaths every year, with 31 deaths in New Zealand between 2007 and 2018. These overdoses are often accidental, with a common mindset that paracetamol is safe, when it can be toxic at doses not much higher than the recommended maximum. Overdoses also represent a huge financial cost for hospitals, with an estimated \$3 million spent on paracetamol overdoses in 2012 alone¹¹. Paracetamol is also the biggest cause of poisonings in under 5-year-olds¹².

Ibuprofen is a non-steroidal anti-inflammatory that is commonly used in New Zealand as a broad-spectrum pain reliever. However, prolonged usage can lead to kidney and liver damage, gastrointestinal bleeding¹³, and increased risk of heart attack (Hernández-Díaz et al 2006).

⁹ https://www.healthnavigator.org.nz/medicines/p/paracetamol/

¹² https://www.starship.org.nz/guidelines/paracetamol-poisoning/

⁸ https://www.medsafe.govt.nz/profs/puarticles/caffeine.htm

¹⁰ https://www.rnz.co.nz/news/the-wireless/375268/fransplaining-science-is-paracetamol-doing-moreharm-than-good

¹¹ https://www.rnz.co.nz/news/the-wireless/375268/fransplaining-science-is-paracetamol-doing-more-harm-than-good

¹³ https://adf.org.au/drug-facts/ibuprofen/

Additionally, risks are exacerbated for smokers and those individuals with diabetes, high blood pressure, high cholesterol, renal problems or stomach ulcers¹⁴.

Both paracetamol and ibuprofen are available without a prescription and can be bought not only at pharmacies but also at supermarkets. This makes it very difficult to accurately track consumption. For this reason, wastewater monitoring is an excellent tool to assess consumption rates at the community level. Both paracetamol (acetaminophen) and ibuprofen are detected in very high levels in wastewater (up to 500,000 ng/L and 45,000 ng/L respectively) (Roberts and Thomas 2006; Guerra et al 2014; Sims and Kasprzyk-Hordern 2020).

• Antimicrobials

A wide range of antimicrobials are used in New Zealand to treat a variety of bacterial infections, and almost all require a prescription¹⁵. Antibiotic use is high in New Zealand compared to many other developed nations (Williamson et al 2016). This is concerning as overuse of antibiotics is directly linked to the rise of antimicrobial resistance (AMR). There is currently no standard system for monitoring antibiotic consumption in New Zealand other than relying on prescription/dispensation data (Williamson et al 2016). Wastewater monitoring could provide a valuable surveillance tool able to capture differences between levels prescribed and levels consumed, and temporal and spatial patterns in consumption. However, this may be complicated by antibiotics being brought into New Zealand from overseas. A range of antibiotics have been detected in wastewater in international studies (Kasprzyk-Hordern et al 2009; Roberts and Thomas 2009; Guerra et al 2014; Senta et al 2019). These include sulfamethoxazole, azithromycin, clarithromycin, ciprofloxacin, erythromycin, and trimethoprim (Sims and Kasprzyk-Hordern 2020).

2.2.4 Infectious diseases

Infectious diseases, whether caused by bacteria, viruses, fungi or parasites, pose a significant threat to public health. These diseases may be new emerging infections, re-emerging or persistent threats (Bloom and Cadarette 2019). Since the 1970s more than 40 new infectious diseases have been discovered (WHO 2018b), and several old diseases have re-emerged, due to a combination of climate change, drug resistance, poverty and poor sanitation (Sims and Kasprzyk-Hordern 2020). To rapidly respond to new and re-emerging infections, effective monitoring or surveillance systems are required (Sims and Kasprzyk-Hordern 2020). Wastewater monitoring has emerged as a powerful surveillance approach for both routine monitoring of enteric viruses circulating in the community (Lun et al 2018), and for detecting infectious disease outbreaks early in their development (Sims and Kasprzyk-Hordern 2020). For example, norovirus and hepatitis A virus could be detected in wastewater before outbreaks were detected by the health care system (Hellmér et al 2014). More recently, RNA from the COVID-19 virus SARS-CoV-2 has been shown to be detectable in wastewater up to several days before cases are detected through clinical screening (WHO 2020b). This highlights a major advantage of wastewater monitoring, which is that large amounts of virus are often shed

¹⁴ https://www.healthnavigator.org.nz/medicines/i/ibuprofen/

¹⁵ https://www.healthnavigator.org.nz/medicines/a/antibiotics/

before the onset of visible disease symptoms (Hellmér et al 2014). The notion of monitoring wastewater for infectious disease is not new, with surveillance monitoring for poliovirus successfully employed since the 1980s (Huang et al 2005; Hovi et al 2012; Roberts 2013; Asghar et al 2014; Ndiaye et al 2014). This so-called Environmental Poliovirus Surveillance (ENV) is now part of the World Health Organisations Global Polio Eradication Initiative¹⁶ (WHO 2003).

Wastewater monitoring for infectious diseases has risen to prominence due to its recent role in the global COVID-19 response (Ahmed et al 2020a; Medema et al 2020; Randazzo et al 2020; Rimoldi et al 2020; WHO 2020b). As of May 2021, the COVID-19 WBE Collaborative had over 2,200 SARS-CoV-2 monitoring sites across 55 countries registered on its COVID19Poops dashboard¹⁷. Collaborating groups include the US National Wastewater Surveillance System (NWSS), a partnership between the US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), US Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) and federal government¹⁸; the Australian Collaboration on Sewage Surveillance of SARS-CoV-2 project (ColoSSoS; proposed to transition to POWER - Public Health Outcomes from Wastewater Epidemiology Research), a co-ordinated effort of over 50 organisations led by Water Research Australia¹⁹; and the UK National COVID-19 Wastewater Epidemiology Surveillance Programme (N-WESP), comprised of 23 partner organisations and led by the UK Centre for Ecology and Hydrology²⁰. In March 2021, the European Commission adopted a recommendation on COVID-19 wastewater monitoring which asks all member states to put wastewater surveillance and reporting systems in place²¹. ESR is a member of the COVID-19 WBE Collaborative and has been monitoring wastewater for SARS-CoV-2 since July 2020, forming an important part of New Zealand's COVID-19 response. Now established, this global wastewater monitoring infrastructure could be readily adapted to other infectious diseases. Indeed, in the USA, utilisation of the capacity established for COVID-19 for other infectious diseases has already been proposed (J. Hewitt, pers com).

A wide range of other infectious microorganisms are known to be detectable in wastewater, including hepatitis A, B and E viruses, noroviruses, rotaviruses, sapoviruses, enteroviruses and zika virus (Vitale et al 2021); the human pathogenic bacterial species *Campylobacter jejuni* and *C. coli* (Waage et al 1999); and the parasitic protozoa *Giardia* (Nasser et al 2012). There are a variety of methods that can be used for detecting infectious microorganisms in wastewater (Corpuz et al 2020). Those methods that may be suitable for wastewater monitoring are discussed in detail below:

¹⁶ https://polioeradication.org/news-post/environmental-surveillance-and-the-polio-eradication-effort/

¹⁷ https://www.covid19wbec.org/covidpoops19

¹⁸ https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/cases-updates/wastewater-surveillance.html

¹⁹ https://www.waterra.com.au/project-details/264

²⁰ https://nwesp.ceh.ac.uk/

²¹ https://ec.europa.eu/jrc/en/news/coronavirus-commission-adopts-common-approach-track-covid-19-through-wastewater-monitoring

• PCR (Polymerase chain reaction)-based methods

Most molecular methods for detection of infectious microorganisms rely on a PCR-based approach, such as qPCR (quantitative PCR). For RNA viruses the first step in this process is to convert the viral RNA to complementary DNA (cDNA). Small pieces of DNA (primers) specific for the chosen organism are then attached to the DNA or cDNA template and using an enzyme-based replication process, the microbial DNA is amplified. Products produced by the PCR reaction are labelled with fluorescent dyes or probes, and the fluorescence of the PCR reaction can be monitored over time. The amount of fluorescence can then be used to determine the amount of microbial nucleic acid that was present in the original sample. These methods have been successfully used to quantify astrovirus, human adenovirus, human polyomavirus, norovirus GII, reovirus, enterovirus, rotavirus, sapovirus, and more recently, SARS-CoV-2 in wastewater (Qiu et al 2018; Randazzo et al 2020; Wu et al 2020; Wurtzer et al 2020). This methodology can also be adapted to screen for multiple different viruses at the same time (multiplex qPCR) by using different fluorescent probes for each one. For example, this approach has been used to simultaneously screen wastewater for a range of enteric viruses including rotavirus, norovirus GI and GII, human adenovirus, human polyomavirus and enterovirus (Hamza et al 2014).

An alternative method for quantifying viruses in wastewater is digital PCR (dPCR) which gives absolute quantification of the number of viral genomes present in a sample. One approach is droplet digital PCR, where the sample is fractionated into thousands of droplets within a wateroil emulsion (Jahne et al 2020). Amplification of the template then occurs within each droplet as though each droplet was in a separate tube²². This approach has been used to quantify both adenovirus and norovirus within wastewater (Jahne et al 2020). Another approach, which may prove valuable for wastewater monitoring in the future, is chip-based digital PCR where the sample is loaded onto a silicon chip that contains thousands of wells. Amplification then occurs within each well and results are visualised using fluorescence microscopy (Nykel et al 2019).

• Next generation sequencing

Next generation sequencing (NGS) can be used to provide a comprehensive, unbiased picture of all microorganisms present within a wastewater sample. This approach provides not only information on the diversity present but can also be used to investigate mutations present within the population. Next generation sequencing has been used to study the diversity of enteroviruses present in wastewater (Tao et al 2020; Lizasoain et al 2021). More recently it has been applied to wastewater monitoring for COVID-19, where it has been used to identify novel mutations within SARS-CoV-2 (Izquierdo-Lara et al 2021).

²² https://www.bio-rad.com/en-nz/applications-technologies/droplet-digital-pcr-ddpcr-technology

2.2.5 Antimicrobial resistance

Antimicrobial resistance (AMR) refers to the process by which microorganisms, particularly bacteria, change over time such that they are no longer sensitive to antibiotics, making infections more and more difficult to treat. Although these organisms naturally change over time, AMR is mostly driven by overuse and misuse of antibiotics, such as not completing a full course of antibiotics as prescribed. This is often combined with poor sanitation and disease prevention measures. Of particular concern is the rise of so-called 'superbugs' that are resistant to many or all currently available antibiotics, resulting in untreatable infections. The WHO has declared that AMR is one of the top ten threats to global public health²³. In 2015 they established the Global Antimicrobial Resistance Surveillance System (GLASS) to support global surveillance and research on AMR²⁴ (WHO 2020a). Antimicrobial resistance is seen as an imminent threat to New Zealand, according to the Prime Minister's Chief Science Advisor²⁵. The consumption of antibiotics in New Zealand is high compared with many other developed nations, likely due in part to antimicrobials being prescribed for viral respiratory conditions (Williamson et al 2016). ESR was commissioned by the Ministry of Health to report on antibiotic consumption in New Zealand. The first report released in 2016 revealed that between 2006-2014 consumption had increased by 49% (Williamson et al 2016). To curb rising consumption, PHARMAC launched the 'keep antibiotics working campaign' to educate New Zealanders that antibiotics do not work for colds or flu²⁶. Perhaps attributable to the success of this programme, combined with decreased inappropriate prescribing of antibiotics, antibiotic consumption has been declining since 2015 (Thomas et al 2020).

Although antimicrobial resistance is currently thought to be relatively low in New Zealand, its New Zealand prevalence is increasing. The Ministry of Health and Ministry for Primary Industries jointly established the Antimicrobial Resistance Action Planning Group, with the aim to develop a National AMR Action Plan. Their report assessing the current situation and identifying areas for action was released in March 2017 (MoH and MPI 2017a). It identified several priority areas, including increasing efforts to raise awareness of AMR in the community and education on the proper use of antibiotics; further education for health professionals around alternatives to prescribing antibiotics; establishment of a national surveillance program for AMR and antibiotic consumption; and supporting national research into AMR (MoH and MPI 2017a). Based on these identified priority areas an Action Plan was developed (MoH and MPI 2017b). As part of this action plan, ESR has been contracted by the Ministry of Health to manage an AMR surveillance programme²⁷. In this programme, antimicrobial susceptibility data from routine laboratory testing, data from periodic surveys of antimicrobial susceptibility of specific organisms sampled from across the country, and monitoring data for rare and emerging resistant bacteria is collated. Wastewater monitoring could be a powerful complementary tool for this surveillance programme. WWTPs have been dubbed 'hotspots' for antimicrobial resistance genes and the mobile genetic elements involved in their transfer between bacterial species (Guo et al 2017; Rodríguez et al 2021). A metagenomic approach

²³ https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/antimicrobial-resistance

²⁴ https://www.who.int/glass/en/

²⁵ https://www.pmcsa.ac.nz/topics/antimicrobial-resistance-and-infectious-disease/antimicrobial-resistance/

 ²⁶ https://pharmac.govt.nz/about/what-we-do/making-best-use-of-medicines/keep-antibiotics-working/
 ²⁷ https://surv.esr.cri.nz/antimicrobial/antimicrobial_resistance.php

to AMR surveillance is used by the Global Sewage Surveillance Project²⁸ (Hendriksen et al 2019), a joint study between the WHO and the National Food Institute, Technical University of Denmark. During the first round of sampling, analysis of untreated wastewater from 60 countries revealed differences in both the prevalence and diversity of AMR genes across these countries, with prevalence strongly influenced by environmental, health, and socio-economic factors (Hendriksen et al 2019). ESR has been collaborating in ongoing sampling related to this project.

In New Zealand, ongoing research at ESR is developing and evaluating the potential of three complementary WBE approaches to understanding the AMR triad (antimicrobials, resistance genes and resistant bacteria). Methodology has been established for the detection and quantitation of four antimicrobials in wastewater (flucloxacillin, erythromycin, roxythromycin and doxycycline). Analysis of spatial and temporal trends in the presence of these antimicrobials is in progress. Additional antimicrobials are also being added to the analysis, some of which require a different extraction method (eg, amoxicillin). In a second approach, HiSeq-based short read metagenomic sequencing is being used to identify AMR genes in wastewater samples. In a pilot study 120-150 putative AMR genes were identified, including genes conferring resistance to clinically relevant antimicrobials such as colistin, beta-lactams, including carbapenems and cephalosporins, and aminoglycosides such as gentamicin and streptomycin. In the third approach, clinically relevant groups of AMR bacteria have been isolated from wastewater. These include Extended Spectrum Beta-Lactamase (ESBL)producing and carbapenemase-producing Gram-negative bacteria. Whole genome sequencing has been undertaken on a subset of isolates, and isolates have been tested for antimicrobial susceptibility. These three approaches for assessing AMR through wastewater will provide valuable insights into trends in community antimicrobial usage and community prevalence of AMR.

2.2.6 Environmental contaminants

In the context of this report, 'environmental contaminants' refers to chemical substances humans may be exposed to in the environment, particularly those which may cause adverse health effects. These include chemicals found in personal care products, pesticides, industrial chemicals and surfactants (Luo et al 2014). A wide range of these chemicals can be detected in wastewater, and therefore could be target biomarkers for wastewater monitoring. A range of chemicals which have been shown to be detectable in wastewater are summarised below:

• Personal care products

These include insect repellents such as DEET (N,N-Diethyl-meta-toluamide) (Terzić et al 2008), the UV filter BP-3 (benzophenone-3) found in sunscreens and cosmetics (Kim and Choi 2014), galaxolide and tonalide found in some musk fragrances (Terzić et al 2008), and disinfectants such as triclosan (Behera et al 2011).

²⁸ https://www.globalsurveillance.eu/

• Pesticides

These include herbicides such as diuron and atrazine (Campo et al 2013), insecticides such as diazinon (Campo et al 2013), and fungicides such as clotrimazole and tebuconazole (Kahle et al 2008).

• Industrial chemicals

These include plasticizers such as BPA (bisphenol-A), DBP (dibutyl phthalate), DEHP (di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate) and DMP (dimethyl phthalate) (Clara et al 2005, 2010), and fire retardants such as TCEP (tris(2-carboxyethyl) phosphine) and TCPP (tris (1-chloro-2-propyl) phosphate) (Loos et al 2013).

• Surfactants

These are chemicals that reduce the surface tension of liquids and include nonylphenol and octylphenol (Terzić et al 2008).

In New Zealand, programmes are currently in place to screen the general population for exposure to persistent organic pollutants (POPs) and other selected chemicals of concern (SCoC). Persistent organic pollutants are chemicals that are resistant to degradation and as such, remain in the environment for long periods of time. They are known to accumulate within the fatty tissues of the body and have been linked to cancer, birth defects and many other significant health conditions²⁹. Selected chemicals of concern are a range of additional environmental contaminants not considered POPs, but of similar public health concern. These include heavy metals, phenols, phthalate metabolites, fluoride and the nicotine metabolite cotinine (Mannetje et al 2018). Several of the contaminants listed above are SCoC including triclosan, BPA, BP-3, DMP, DEP, DBP and DEHP (Mannetje et al 2018). The screening programmes for POPs and SCoC will be discussed in more detail in Section 4 of this report, with reference to the potential for monitoring for the presence of these chemicals in wastewater.

2.2.7 Disease biomarkers

Most wastewater monitoring is focused on screening for chemical or biological determinants of disease, such as illicit substances and infectious agents. However, much could be gained from monitoring for endogenous human biomarkers indicative of disease. For example, if there are high biomarkers for a given disease in a certain region, this may suggest there is a causal link within the environment which would need to be investigated. This concept of screening wastewater for indicators of disease has been referred to as BioSCIM (sewage chemical-information mining) (Daughton 2018). Candidate disease biomarkers excreted in urine or faeces include diacetyl-polyamines, which are linked to cancer, kidney disease and diabetes (Daughton 2018); C-reactive protein, which is linked to kidney disease, peripheral artery

²⁹ http://www.pops.int/TheConvention/Overview/tabid/3351/Default.aspx

disease, stroke and heart attacks (Stuveling et al 2003); interleukin-8, which is a biomarker of urinary tract infections and general inflammation (Rao et al 2001; Taha et al 2003); and a range of potential biomarkers for brain disorders (An and Gao 2015). This field of wastewater monitoring is in its infancy and it remains to be seen how successful this approach will prove.

3. FRAMEWORK FOR EVALUATING HEALTH DETERMINANTS FOR INCLUSION IN WASTEWATER MONITORING

3.1 PHASE 1: EVALUATION OF CANDIDATE HEALTH DETERMINANTS

The list of potential public health-associated characteristics, or determinants, which could be examined using wastewater monitoring is almost limitless. These could include hazards such as illicit substance abuse and infectious diseases, but also non-hazardous characteristics such as prescription medication use or vitamin C consumption. However, when evaluating which determinants to include in any public health wastewater monitoring, several aspects need to be taken into consideration. Firstly, candidate selection should be guided by the goals of the New Zealand Environmental Health Surveillance Program. This is a joint program between ESR and the Ministry of Health, with support from diagnostic laboratories. It involves the continual collection and analysis of data related to certain health outcomes to direct planning, implementation and evaluation of public health programmes. Selection of candidate health determinants should also be informed by guidelines used in selection of the New Zealand Environmental Health Indicators (EHI) (Table A3; Mason et al 2018). Environmental Health Indicators describe the link between the environment and health and are based on known or plausible cause-and-effect relationships between environmental factors and a person's health (Mason et al 2018). These indicators are developed by the Environmental Health Intelligence New Zealand (EHINZ) team based at Massey University, on behalf of the Ministry of Health³⁰. The criteria used in selecting EHIs are discussed below with regards to their applicability in assessing health determinants for wastewater monitoring as the first phase in an evaluation framework.

3.1.1 Availability of data

The EHI must have data that can be easily and reliably extracted.

With regards to wastewater analysis, this means there must be a suitable chemical or biological substance (biomarker) for the chosen health determinant which can be relatively easily and reliably detected. Criteria for evaluation of suitable biomarkers will form phase 2 of the framework as discussed below.

³⁰ https://www.ehinz.ac.nz/indicators/

3.1.2 Scientific validity

The EHI must have an established, scientifically-sound link to the environmental health issue.

This criterion implies that changes in levels of a biomarker, or detection of a previously absent biomarker, infers changes in the prevalence of the associated health determinant. For example, increased presence of illicit drugs or their metabolites in wastewater would imply increased illicit substance abuse within the catchment zone (Chappell and Ashmore 2018). Similarly, detection of SARS-CoV-2 RNA fragments in wastewater indicates the presence of COVID-19 cases within the catchment zone (WHO 2020b).

3.1.3 Sensitivity to changes

The EHI should respond relatively quickly and noticeably to changes but not show false movements.

This criterion means that levels of biomarker excreted into wastewater should change in response to a change in the associated health determinant. For example, if more people within a given catchment starting consuming methamphetamine, the level of methamphetamine detected in wastewater from that catchment should also increase. Conversely, this criterion also implies that biomarker levels should not change unless there is a change in the associated health determinant. Abnormally high or low wastewater flow could lead to perceived changes in biomarker concentration not representative of true changes in consumption. Thus, it is very important that all wastewater system will result in increased flow through the wastewater network, particularly where wastewater and stormwater systems are combined. This will result in biomarker dilution, which may mean low abundance biomarkers are too dilute to be detected. The effect of flow rate is taken into consideration during back calculations of biomarker abundance. For example, when calculating drug consumption:

Drug use = <u>concentration x flow rate x excretion rate</u> (Chappell and Ashmore, 2018) Population adjustment

3.1.4 Consistency

The EHI should be consistent with those used in other indicator programmes (including internationally) so comparisons can be made.

This criterion has two implications with regards to wastewater monitoring. Firstly, it implies that where wastewater monitoring is to be used as a complimentary analysis to another method already in use, the information it provides must be able to be compared easily with results from the other methods. For example, wastewater monitoring for COVID-19 looks for the presence of SARS-CoV-2 RNA fragments, which are detected after PCR (polymerase chain reaction) amplification (Ahmed et al 2020a; Randazzo et al 2020; Rimoldi et al 2020). This is complimentary to nasopharyngeal swab testing done at COVID-19 testing stations and swab/saliva testing of border workers, which also rely on PCR of amplification of viral

particles³¹. This allows results from these two monitoring programmes to be compared, such that wastewater detection would be expected in regions where cases have been identified by clinical testing and unexpected in regions where no cases have been identified. However, as discussed above COVID-19 detection in wastewater can pre-empt clinical detection, in which case it would provide support for a rapid public health response to identify the source.

Secondly, this criterion implies that when selecting biomarkers for monitoring a given health determinant, consideration should be given to comparable wastewater monitoring occurring internationally. If this health determinant is already the target of wastewater monitoring overseas, ideally the same biomarker should be employed in New Zealand to allow direct study comparisons.

3.1.5 Comparability

The EHI should be consistent to allow comparisons over time.

This criterion implies that the relationship between a health determinant and its chosen biomarker should not change, allowing for informative comparisons over time. For example, in the national wastewater drug testing programme the ability to monitor changes in drug/metabolite excretion over time and establish patterns of drug usage is particularly important for Police and Customs officials³². New psychoactive substances pose a particular challenge as their composition is regularly being altered to avoid detection, achieve new outcomes or due to manufacturing changes. As such, new NPS are constantly entering the market, resulting in a generally short lifespan for most NPS and reducing the usefulness of long-term analysis. Moreover, some illicit substances and NPS share common breakdown products, further confounding analysis. Special consideration must also be given with regards to infectious diseases as these often mutate, giving rise to new variants which have the potential to impact on monitoring if the mutation changes features of the biomarker that affect its detection. However, a recent study has revealed that wastewater monitoring can also be useful for examining the rise of novel mutations in infectious diseases. Izquierdo-Lara et al (2021) performed whole genome sequencing of wastewater samples to examine the diversity of SARS-CoV-2 in the community, allowing them to detect several novel mutations. Lastly, it is also feasible for novel infectious diseases to arise which share a common biomarker with one already monitored, thereby confounding interpretation as the biomarker would then relate to more than one health determinant.

3.1.6 Methodologically sound measurement

The EHI measurement needs to be methodologically sound.

There are many factors to consider during wastewater monitoring to ensure resulting measurements are accurate. Methodologies for sample collection, processing and analyte determination must be optimised and validated for each biomarker. The biomarker must be

³¹ https://www.health.govt.nz/our-work/diseases-and-conditions/covid-19-novel-coronavirus/covid-19-health-advice-public/assessment-and-testing-covid-19/how-covid-19-testing-works

³² https://www.police.govt.nz/about-us/publication/national-wastewater-testing-programme-quarter-1-2020

sufficiently stable for measurements to be meaningful. This is discussed in more detail in phase 2 below. In cases where a human-specific metabolite of the biomarker is monitored, back-calculations must include consideration of metabolism rates of the parent compound (Gracia-Lor et al 2016). Lastly, one of the most challenging steps in wastewater monitoring is estimation of the size of the contributing population to allow for calculation of biomarker abundance per capita (Rico et al 2017). Methods include using the design capacity of the WWTP, or extrapolation based on information from census data, from hydrochemical parameters, or based on concentrations of nitrogen, oxygen or phosphorus (van Nuijs et al 2011a; Castiglioni et al 2014). However, each of these approaches have considerable limitations. Recently, a range of human urine biomarkers have been tested to identify biomarkers which may act as a good proxy for population size (Rico et al 2017). The importance of accurately measuring population size also depends on whether qualitative or quantitative measurements are required for the chosen health determinant.

3.1.7 Intelligible and easily interpreted

The EHI should be sufficiently simple to be interpreted in practice and be intuitive in the sense that it is obvious what the indicator is measuring.

As discussed above, there are a multitude of putative health determinants that could be examined using wastewater monitoring. However, it is important to consider what results from wastewater monitoring of that health determinant would mean. This will depend on the overall purpose of the monitoring – is it to gain information around spatial and temporal changes in levels of the biomarker (a quantitative approach) or is it for surveillance purposes to detect the presence of a previously absent biomarker (a qualitative approach)? For some health determinants, the meaning of wastewater monitoring results is clear. For example, detection of illicit drugs or their metabolites within wastewater indicates there has been consumption of that drug by people within the catchment region, and changes in the levels detected can be monitored over time and compared across different geographic areas³³. This can then allow conclusions around trends in drug consumption on different days of the week or times of the year, and differences across regions to be drawn. This information can then be used by Police and border officials for law enforcement, allow health authorities to deliver harm reduction programmes more efficiently, and inform policy changes. Similarly, detection of SARS-CoV-2 RNA fragments in wastewater indicates the presence of COVID-19 cases within the catchment area (WHO 2020b). This information can then be used to direct public health measures. However, for some health determinants the meaning of results from wastewater monitoring might not be so clear. For example, monitoring testosterone levels in wastewater could give information about average testosterone excretion within a catchment zone. However, as results are normalised for population size it would be impossible to tell whether there were certain individuals within the catchment with very high levels of excretion. Additionally, there would be no information around gender distribution in the contributing population which would obviously confound any conclusions, given males generally produce twenty-times more testosterone than females (Southren et al 1967). There are also considerations around this

³³ https://www.police.govt.nz/about-us/publication/national-wastewater-testing-programme-quarter-1-2020

criterion relating to the specificity, sensitivity of detection and stability of biomarkers which will be discussed in phase 2 of this framework.

3.1.8 Is the indicator able to be disaggregated?

The EHI needs to be able to be broken down into population subgroups or areas of particular interest, such as ethnic groups or regional areas.

This criterion has considerable limitations with regards to wastewater monitoring as samples are reflective of the entire population within the catchment and it is impossible to break this down into subgroups. Specific regions can be targeted by altering sampling locations to focus on certain zones within the catchment region, however the social and ethical risks of sampling specific sub-catchments must be considered. For health determinants where it is essential to have information broken down by population demographics, wastewater-based monitoring is unsuitable.

3.1.9 Timely

Data needs to be collected and reported regularly and frequently to ensure it is reflecting current and not historical trends.

When considering this criterion with regards to wastewater monitoring it is important to note that by its very nature, wastewater monitoring reflects the current situation due to the continual flow of wastewater past the sampling site. However, delays could exist post-sampling within the analysis stage of the workflow, and the turnaround time from sampling to reporting would need to take into consideration the urgency of the output. For example, reporting on detection of COVID-19 needs to be rapid to allow an appropriate public health response. Similarly, in cases where wastewater monitoring performs a surveillance role for new infectious diseases or NPS, for example, rapid reporting would also be essential. In contrast, more long-term monitoring programmes such as the drugs in wastewater programme would have less urgency associated with reporting and information on historic trends would still be useful.

3.1.10 Public health impact

The EHI needs to relate to an environmental health issue of significant public health impact to New Zealand. This health impact may include affecting a large number of people, a vulnerable population, or Māori health; or having substantial policy relevance.

This criterion implies that any health determinant chosen for wastewater monitoring must relate to a significant issue for public health in New Zealand. Specifically, it should relate to: an issue affecting a large number of people, more vulnerable groups within society (such as the elderly), or having large health inequalities (such as conditions over-represented in certain groups such as Māori or Pasifika); a serious illness or condition such as severe illnesses, those with long-term repercussions, and/or those with risk of death; issues where there is potential for changes in public health measures or policy change to enhance overall public health (Mason et al 2018).

3.1.11 Presence of alternative methodologies for monitoring the health determinant

In addition to the above EHI criteria, it is also important to examine what other methodologies, if any, are currently being employed to monitor the chosen health determinant. Important questions to consider include: Can wastewater monitoring provide faster, cheaper or more reliable information about this health determinant than current methodologies? Can the biomarker for the chosen health determinant be added into an existing analysis workflow? For example, in the drugs in wastewater programme it is possible to add new compounds into the analysis workflow and gain substantial information for very little additional cost. This approach could mean a health determinant not worthy of the considerable cost associated with establishing/ maintaining a new monitoring workflow can still be examined due to the significantly reduced cost associated with adding it to an existing workflow. Can wastewater monitoring provide complementary or corroborative information? For example, COVID-19 is currently monitored through nasopharyngeal swab testing at community testing centres and routine testing of border workers. However, wastewater monitoring provides a complementary 'surveillance' safety net to detect the presence of cases which may have been missed by these other approaches possibly due to the sometimes-symptomless nature of COVID-19, or community complacency. As discussed above, COVID-19 wastewater monitoring is also capable of detecting cases several days before they are evident from clinical testing (WHO 2020b). If data from wastewater monitoring will not add significantly to data already being collected for the chosen health determinant by other methodologies it is not a good candidate as resources would be better spent on health determinants not already being monitored.

3.2 PHASE 2: IDENTIFICATION AND EVALUATION OF BIOMARKERS

Once a health determinant has been selected as a potential candidate for wastewater-based monitoring, there are several considerations that form the second phase of the evaluation framework:

3.2.1 Identification of potential biomarkers

The first step is to determine if a suitable biomarker exists for the chosen health determinant. The term biomarker with regards to WBE simply refers to a specific human excretion product. The nature of the biomarker will differ depending on whether the health determinant being monitored is chemical or biological in nature. For example, in wastewater monitoring of COVID-19, non-infective RNA fragments of SARS-CoV-2 act as the biomarker (WHO 2020b). In contrast, in the New Zealand wastewater drug testing programme, illicit drugs and/or their metabolites act as the biomarkers (Chappell and Ashmore 2018). It is important to choose a biomarker for which there is considerable pre-existing scientific knowledge, particularly around its metabolism. For example, a drug which is almost completely broken down by the body or is broken down into a wide variety of metabolites may not be suitable as a biomarker. Similarly, biomarkers related to multiple health determinants may also not be suitable as this could confound analyses.

3.2.2 Is the biomarker excreted?

Perhaps the most important consideration in the selection of a biomarker for wastewater monitoring is whether it is excreted in urine or faeces. For ease of analysis, biomarkers that are excreted in urine are preferential (Chen et al 2014). However, methodology can be adapted for those biomarkers excreted in faeces or sorbed onto particulate matter. Ideally, excretion levels should also correlate with dosage or level of exposure to the health determinant. If the chosen biomarker is not excreted or is excreted in insufficient quantities to be detected, then it is unsuitable for wastewater monitoring. It has been suggested that to be detectable a given biomarker should be excreted in μ g/L concentrations (Chen et al 2014). However, this is obviously dependent on how many people within the catchment are excreting the biomarker. Pre-existing knowledge of the rate or timing of excretion of the chosen biomarker is crucial. This can often vary between individuals or across population demographics (age, ethnicity, health status) so it is beneficial to have extensive quantitative data across different groups. Additionally, in the case of infectious diseases not every infected individual may shed the biomarker. For example, only around 40% of people infected with COVID-19 shed viral RNA in their faeces (Parasa et al 2020). The relative importance of this depends on whether qualitative or quantitative data is desired. For example, in the case of COVID-19, the potential public health benefits provided by the extra level of surveillance conveyed by wastewater monitoring outweighs the limitation of not all cases being detectable via this method. In contrast, for health determinants where quantitative data is required, it may be inappropriate to use a biomarker not excreted by every individual exposed to that health determinant.

3.2.3 Is the biomarker stable?

The stability of a chosen biomarker is a key consideration for WBE studies. This includes stability in-sewer; during collection, transport and storage; and during analysis (McCall et al 2016). Several studies have been published assessing the stability of various biomarkers in wastewater. However, it is important to acknowledge that many of these studies have focused on biomarker degradation in laboratory sewer reactors rather than directly in-sewer, which can lead to an overestimation of the degradation rate (Choi et al 2020b). Additionally, degradation can vary dramatically between laboratory reactor types (rising main and gravity sewer), as seen for the antihistamine cetirizine (Choi et al 2018). In-sewer stability will also vary with changing environmental conditions, including temperature and pH (McCall et al 2016). It has been proposed that for 'best practice' the mean hydraulic retention time of wastewater in sewers should be less than the time taken for 10% degradation of the chosen biomarker ($t_{10\%}$) (O'Brien et al 2017). However, many biomarkers can still provide useful information even if they degrade at a faster rate than this, particularly for qualitative studies (Choi et al 2020a). For example, Choi et al (2018) found that cetirizine degraded by 10% within 45 minutes in a rising main laboratory sewer reactor, but useful information could still be gained from the study. In contrast, some biomarkers will prove too unstable for useful wastewater monitoring. Examples include anserine and carnosine (biomarkers of meat consumption), and HPMA (biomarker of exposure to the toxin acrolein) which are almost completely degraded within one hour in a rising main reactor (Choi et al 2020a). It is important to note that lack of information on biomarker stability does not necessarily preclude the possibility for wastewater monitoring but rather may necessitate pilot studies to determine stability in wastewater.

3.2.4 Is the biomarker specific for human exposure to the health determinant?

To be useful for wastewater monitoring studies, a biomarker must be specifically released into wastewater via human excretion in response to exposure to the chosen health determinant (Gracia-Lor et al 2017b). This means there should not be any other exogenous source contributing to its presence in wastewater, be it as an input or through microbial activity insewer. This can be particularly difficult as wastewater often contains not only excreted matter (black water) but also water from showers/baths, sinks, dishwashers and washing machines (grey water). Many biomarkers are present in a wide range of plant or animal tissues or can be produced (or consumed) by microbes (Choi et al 2020a). Additionally, chemical substances can be intentionally added to wastewater, for example caffeine from leftover coffee poured down the drain, or illicit substances flushed down the toilet. One approach to overcome these problems is to monitor for a human-specific metabolite of the biomarker of interest. For example, Gracia-Lor et al (2017a) in their study of caffeine in wastewater monitored for the caffeine specific metabolite 1.7-dimethyluric acid. They then used data from pharmacokinetic studies to back-calculate caffeine consumption. Similarly, in the drugs in wastewater programme, the presence of cocaine is estimated by monitoring its metabolite benzoylecgonine and performing appropriate back-calculations (Chappell and Ashmore 2018). To determine if biomarker presence in wastewater is solely due to human excretion it is possible to compare levels in wastewater with data on average human excretion levels (Choi et al 2020a). In cases where levels in wastewater exceed that which would be expected based on excretion levels in urine/faeces and given the population size, it can be assumed that there are exogenous sources contributing to biomarker presence. For example, Choi et al (2020a) found that riboflavin (vitamin B2) levels in Australian wastewater were more than twice that expected based on average human excretion rates, indicating significant non-human sources. Where there are known significant exogenous sources for a biomarker it may be possible to account for their contribution and subtract it from the total level measured to still obtain useful information on consumption/exposure levels. However, biomarkers for which insufficient information is available to quantify contribution from exogenous sources would be unsuitable for WBE studies.

3.2.5 Can you detect/extract the biomarker from wastewater

Obviously, in order to examine the presence of a biomarker in wastewater, and potentially measure its levels, it must be detectable in wastewater. Wastewater is a complex matrix, comprised of solids, dissolved particles, heavy metals, nutrients, microbes, and other micropollutants (Warwick et al 2013). As such, multiple refining steps are typically required before detection of a biomarker is possible in order to remove any inhibitory substances and concentrate the sample. These steps vary depending on the biomarker being monitored and the detection method. For example, when monitoring for illicit drugs, samples are generally vacuum filtered, the pH adjusted, internal standards for each metabolite being analysed are added, solid phase extraction (SPE) is performed, and the extract is analysed by liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) (Bade et al 2020). In contrast, methods used in SARS-CoV-2 monitoring may involve ultrafiltration, in which samples are passed through centrifugal filters, concentrated, then the RNA extracted directly from the concentrate and used for PCR analysis (Ikner et al 2011); or direct extraction from electronegative membranes, where samples are pH adjusted, passed through the membrane,

then the RNA extracted from the membrane and used for PCR analysis (Ahmed et al 2015). New methodologies are constantly being developed to optimise wastewater monitoring. Interesting progress has also been made into monitoring proteins in wastewater using polymer probes combined with untargeted proteomics, allowing insight into the proteomic profiles of wastewater (Carrascal et al 2020). It is important to note that limits of detection (LOD) for a biomarker will depend on the methodology employed. For example, in the New Zealand wastewater drug testing programme samples are extracted by solid phase extraction (SPE) and analysed by liquid chromatography mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) as detailed above. Using this approach, the LOD for benzoylecgonine, a metabolite of cocaine, and methamphetamine is 0.00125 μ g/L, whereas for heroin it is 0.0025 μ g/L (Chappell and Ashmore 2018). In cases where only very low amounts of biomarker are present in wastewater it may be insufficient to be detected. It is recommended that to be efficiently detected biomarkers should be excreted in the μ g/L range (Chen et al 2014).

The method of sample collection will also potentially affect the detectability of a given biomarker. Common wastewater sampling methods include grab, composite and passive sampling. The decision around which methodology to use will depend on the resources available, and consideration of the abundance of the biomarker of interest and proportion of the population excreting it. Grab samples consist of a single sample taken at a given point in time. As such, they provide a 'snapshot' of what is present in wastewater from the sampling location at sampling time (Clesceri et al 1998). Biomarkers excreted by only a small number of people in the population are easily missed if the 'contribution' from these people is added to the wastewater system too far in advance or after the sampling time. In contrast, composite samples consist of multiple sub-samples which are collected either manually as a series of grab samples or by an autosampler (Clesceri et al 1998; Duncan et al 2007). Composite samples can be either flow- or time-weighted. Time-weighted samples are obtained by taking sub-samples of set volume at set intervals over a chosen sampling period, eq. 200 mL every 30 min over a 24-hour period (Hewitt et al 2021). In contrast, flow-weighted samples consist of multiple sub-samples of either varying volume or taken at varying time intervals proportional to the influent flow rate (Duncan et al 2007). Composite samples are therefore representative of the sampling period over which the sub-samples were taken, with biomarker concentration in these samples being an average of the different concentrations present over that time (NZWERF 2002). Sampling frequency can be altered depending on the predicted abundance of the biomarker of interest. For biomarkers of predicted low abundance or where very few people within the population are excreting them, samples will need to be taken more frequently. Similarly, the closer to the expected source that samples are collected, the more frequently you need to sample. For example, when sampling for SARS-CoV-2 RNA directly outside a managed isolation and guarantine (MIQ) facility where there were known COVID-19 cases, Hewitt et al (2021) collected 60 mL samples every 10 min over a 24-hour period. During the same study, samples collected downstream at the inlet to the wastewater treatment plant consisted of 200 mL samples taken every 30 min over the same 24-hour period.

In passive sampling, a sampling device is installed at a site within the wastewater system (eg, manhole, pumping station or wastewater treatment plant) and left to interact with the wastewater for a certain period, which depends on the abundance of the biomarker of interest. The device is then retrieved and analysed. The most classic passive sampling device is the Moore swab, which is essentially a piece of gauze with a string that is left in the wastewater

system for between 1-7 days (Moore 1951). More recently, a promising new passive sampling device has been developed in Australia and validated for detection of SARS-CoV-2 (Schang et al 2021).

The size of the population contributing to the wastewater catchment being monitored may also impact on detectability and should be taken into consideration. For example, when monitoring for SARS-CoV-2 RNA, detection of a single case in a catchment containing 5,000 people (prevalence of 0.02%) is more likely than detection of a single case in a catchment of 100,000 people (prevalence of 0.001%).

3.2.6 Accuracy and validation

For wastewater monitoring to be considered a reliable public health measure, it is essential that results are as accurate as possible. This includes ensuring any new extraction and detection methods are validated to confirm that the biomarker is being efficiently extracted and able to be detected, and that the risk of false negatives and false positives is minimised. To this end it is important to include internal controls in each extraction, as wastewater is dynamic and as such there may be instances where high levels of inhibitors are present which prevent extraction/detection, or inevitable human error, and without controls it could be wrongly assumed that the biomarker is absent (false negative results). In the New Zealand wastewater drug testing programme internal standards for each metabolite to be measured are added to all samples as described above. Similarly, in the COVID-19 wastewater monitoring programme, a cat coronavirus is added to all samples as an internal control³⁴. It is also of equal importance to mitigate the risk of false positives, which are particularly relevant for qualitative surveillance monitoring. For example, when reporting on detection of SARS-CoV-2 it is essential that there are no false positive results, which could cause undue concern and potentially an unnecessary public health response. To this end, any positive results must be verified through repeated PCR analysis and repeated extraction and analysis of a stored replicate sample⁷.

The accuracy of results from wastewater monitoring are also dependent on excretion profiles of the contributing population. For biomarkers where rates of excretion vary considerably between individuals, the lower the number of people within the population who are excreting the biomarker, the greater the impact of this variability in excretion rates. As the number of people excreting the biomarker increases, the variation in excretion rates will average out to give more consistent and reliable measurements.

Other factors that could lead to sampling bias should also be considered. For example, some biomarkers adhere to the wastewater pipes, leading to perceived lower abundance. Additionally, biomarkers associated with the wastewater solid phase often require extra extraction steps (Hewitt et al 2021) which are essential to ensure detection is not weighted towards those biomarkers preferentially present in the liquid phase.

³⁴ https://www.esr.cri.nz/our-expertise/covid-19-response/other-covid-19-work/wastewater-faqs/

3.3 CONCLUSIONS

This framework forms a basis for evaluation of putative health determinant candidates being assessed for suitability for wastewater monitoring. Not every criterion will apply to every health determinant, and failure to satisfy a criterion will not necessarily be means for exclusion from wastewater monitoring. However, there are some 'stop/go' criterion which must be met for the health determinant to be considered further. This includes the necessity for there to be a suitable, excreted and detectable biomarker for the chosen health determinant. The link between the health determinant and its biomarker must be scientifically valid. Crucially, the health determinant must relate to a significant New Zealand public health issue. Overall, this framework is meant as a guide to inform decisions on health determinant selection, by highlighting those candidates which are best suited to wastewater monitoring.

4. EVALUATION OF HEALTH DETERMINANT CANDIDATES VIA THE WASTEWATER MONITORING FRAMEWORK

In this section, several candidate health determinants will be assessed by the evaluation framework to determine their suitability for wastewater monitoring. This may not involve a complete analysis of all criterion where the candidate health determinant is deemed unsuitable based on partial evaluation.

4.1 PERSISTANT ORGANIC POLLUTANTS AND SELECTED CHEMICALS OF CONCERN BIOMONITORING SURVEYS

Interest has been expressed by the Ministry of Health as to whether wastewater monitoring could replace the New Zealand persistent organic pollutants (POPs) and selected chemicals of concern (SCoC) biomonitoring surveys. In 2004, New Zealand signed the Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants³⁵. Signatories are required to set in place systems to reduce or eliminate the release of chemicals listed in the convention into the environment (Table A4). The Stockholm Convention takes into consideration the fact that these chemicals can easily become geographically widely distributed, so protecting the environment and human health requires a global response. Signatories are required to collect monitoring data for the presence of POPs within the population. This data should be comparable, and as such the World Health Organisation (WHO) has established protocol guidelines that they encourage signatories to adhere to for both reliability and comparability (WHO 2007). Prior to signing the Stockholm convention, New Zealand had already begun monitoring for POPs, with the Ministry for the Environment establishing in 1995 the national organochlorines programme to determine the level of contamination of the New Zealand environment. To date, three studies investigating the contamination of breast milk in New Zealand mothers have been published. Sampling for these was carried out in 1987-1988 (Bates et al 1994), 1998 (Bates et al 2002) and 2007-2010 (Mannetje et al 2013). Whilst these studies were informative, they included very small sample sizes (n = 38, 53 and 39 respectively), and only reflect biological accumulation of POPs within a small subset of the general population (breast-feeding women). In 2004, the results of the first study examining levels of POPs in blood serum of the general (non-occupationally exposed) New Zealand adult population were published (Bates et al 2004). Samples were taken during 1996-1997, and results represented data from 1034 females and 800 males from a range of ages, geographical locations and ethnicity (Māori/non-Māori). Persistent organic pollutants detected in these studies are summarised in Table A5. These studies showed that the background body burden for chlorinated POPs, PCDDs and PCBs is low, especially in comparison to international data

³⁵ www.pops.int

(Mannetje et al 2013). The breast milk studies show that control mechanisms have been effective, with a two-thirds decrease in chlorinated POPs detected in breast milk between 1988-1998, and a further 50% decrease between 1998-2008 (Mannetje et al 2013). Concentrations of the insecticides DDT (or its metabolite DDE) and dieldrin are of more concern as they were detected at mid-range concentrations, higher than reported in some countries (Mannetje et al 2013). In the blood serum study, DDE was found at levels 50-100 times that seen for other pesticides analysed (Bates et al 2004).

In addition to the POPs studies, the Ministry of Health commissioned the Massey University Centre for Public Health Research (CPHR) to assess the levels of selected chemicals of concern (SCoC) in the blood and urine of New Zealanders (Mannetje et al 2018). Samples were taken during 2014-2016 from 319 adults and 303 children, including a range of geographic regions, both genders, Māori and non-Māori. Blood samples were analysed for lead and mercury. Urine samples were more extensively analysed for metals and metalloids (chromium, arsenic, cadmium, thallium, antimony), cotinine (the predominant metabolite of nicotine), fluoride, environmental phenols (BPA, parabens), and phthalate metabolites. Results of this study are summarised in Table A6. In general, concentrations of these chemicals were comparable to those found overseas. However, a main aim of this study was to determine reference values for these chemicals and establish a benchmark for levels in New Zealand to which future studies can be compared. The ability to monitor differences in concentration in different age groups, genders, geographic locations and ethnicities (Māori/non-Māori) was of key importance for this study.

4.1.1 Framework evaluation – POP surveys

The first important point to make when considering the suitability of wastewater monitoring for analysing POP contamination is that given the directive that signatories of the Stockholm Convention should aim to adhere to the protocol guidelines for monitoring set out by the WHO, wastewater monitoring should not replace the breast milk and serum analyses. However, wastewater monitoring could provide a complimentary approach. For this reason, its suitability should still be evaluated by the framework. It is also important to note that POPs are not one health determinant, with over 30 separate chemicals currently listed in the Stockholm Convention³⁶ (see Appendix); each chemical would therefore need to be considered separately to determine its suitability for wastewater monitoring. An important point to consider is whether population-level data would be informative. With individual testing, the exact chemical concentration burden of each person can be determined. However, with wastewater monitoring the concentrations would be normalised across the entire population, diluting the effects of some individuals having very high levels. Given that the toxicity of many of these chemicals is dose-dependent a wastewater monitoring approach may not be suitable. Nevertheless, two selected POPs have been examined by the framework to highlight those additional criteria which will be most important for assessment, with particular focus on the 'stop/go' criteria. The two selected POPs are the pesticides dieldrin and DDT, as they were shown to be present at concerning levels in the biomonitoring surveys.

³⁶ http://www.pops.int/TheConvention/ThePOPs/AllPOPs/tabid/2509/Default.aspx

The first step in assessing these two chemicals is to determine if a suitable biomarker exists for each. This requires information about their metabolism to determine whether the chemical itself or a metabolite would be suitable for monitoring. Dieldrin is an Annex A chemical in the Stockholm convention meaning that signatories should take steps to eliminate its production and use. Dieldrin is a pesticide in its own right but can also be formed via the rapid metabolism of another POP, aldrin (de Jong 1991; ATSDR 1993). Dieldrin is slowly metabolised to form 9-hydroxydieldrin, which is excreted primarily in faeces and to a lesser extent in urine and could therefore be a suitable biomarker³⁷.

DDT is an Annex B chemical, meaning that signatories should take steps to restrict its production and use. DDT is excreted in urine in its unmetabolized form but is also metabolised to DDA, which is then excreted (Baselt 1982). DDT can also be metabolised to DDE, but this metabolite is generally stored in adipose tissue rather than excreted. DDT is very slowly eliminated from the body at the rate of around 1% of the stored levels per day. DDA was found to be undetectable in unexposed individuals, and average DDT concentration in unexposed individuals was only 0.007 mg/L (Baselt 1982). Whilst this indicates that DDT and/or DDA could be used as a biomarker as they are both excreted in urine, further analysis would be needed to determine if their low-level excretion would be detectable in wastewater.

Low-level excretion of DDT due to its storage within the body highlights an important caveat for use of wastewater monitoring for POPs. These chemicals are often stored in fatty tissues and so studies of serum are informative as cumulative exposure can be assessed. Wastewater monitoring would only be able to assess the level of POPs which are being actively excreted by the body and not stored, providing no information on cumulative exposure. This may also impact on the ability of these biomarkers to be sensitive to changes in exposure levels, in regard to their abundance in wastewater. Both 9-hydroxydieldrin and DDT would need to be further assessed by the remaining framework criteria to determine if they are specific for the health determinant, if there are other sources in wastewater, if methodology exists for their extraction and detection, and if they are stable in wastewater. Given there is already a requirement to monitor exposure to these chemicals as part of the Stockholm Convention, they clearly meet the criterion regarding public health significance. However, an important feature of the biomonitoring surveys is the ability to disaggregate the data to provide information on levels within different age, gender, ethnic groups and geographical location. Given the nature of wastewater monitoring, it is impossible to gain this information, with the exception of broad geographical information based on sampling locations. Future analysis of the feasibility of monitoring POPs in wastewater should consider whether there is potential for a combined sampling, extraction and analysis workflow for these chemicals, as monitoring for each chemical independently would likely be prohibitively costly.

4.1.2 Framework evaluation – selected chemicals of concern surveys

Similar to POPs, the selected chemicals of concern surveys monitor a number of different chemicals, which must all be considered potential health determinants and assessed independently through the framework. It is important to note from the outset that the Mannetje et al (2018) biomonitoring survey placed particular emphasis on the importance of being able

³⁷ http://www.inchem.org/documents/pims/chemical/pim573.htm

to examine differences in contamination levels across different age groups, genders, locations and ethnicities. As this is not possible with wastewater monitoring, apart from geographic location based on sampling sites, it may not be a suitable replacement for the biomonitoring surveys. However, wastewater monitoring may provide a valuable complementary approach. For this reason, the suitability of the selected chemicals of concern as candidates for wastewater monitoring will still be analysed using the framework. Additionally, as for the POPs, the value of population-level data versus concentration data for individuals would need to be assessed to determine whether wastewater monitoring would be informative, or whether any effects would be diluted out once values were normalised for population size. With the exclusion of mercury and lead, the chemicals of concern were all measured in urine in the first biomonitoring survey (Mannetje et al, 2018). Mercury is known to be excreted in urine and faeces (Nuttall 2004), and metallic or elemental mercury and inorganic mercury salts are often assessed in urine³⁸. However, organic mercury compounds and methyl mercury are generally assessed in blood. As these are the most common dietary sources of mercury contamination, this was the method employed in the biomonitoring survey (Mannetje et al 2018). Wastewater monitoring may still be useful for measuring mercury contamination from metallic/elemental mercury and inorganic mercury salts, in addition to the blood biomonitoring surveys. Lead is also excreted in urine; however, its excretion is influenced by urinary flow rate (Sommar et al 2014) and may not be fully indicative of recent exposure due to storage within the body (Mannetje et al 2018). For these reasons, lead would likely be unsuitable for wastewater monitoring.

Similarly to the POPs evaluation, two candidates from the selected chemicals of concern will be assessed by the framework. These are the heavy metal cadmium and the nicotine metabolite, cotinine. Both chemicals are known to be detectable in wastewater (Castiglioni et al 2015b; Agoro et al 2020). However, it is important to determine if there are other sources in addition to human excretion contributing to their presence in wastewater. For example, cadmium is detectable at relatively high levels in wastewater, but this has been attributed to it entering via a variety of non-human sources including food waste, detergents and body care products, impurities in galvanised pipes, and run-off from roads and farms entering stormwater drains that feed into the wastewater system (Agoro et al 2020). As it would be impossible to distinguish human and non-human sources, cadmium would not be a suitable candidate for wastewater monitoring.

In contrast to cadmium, cotinine has already been the subject of numerous international WBE studies into tobacco consumption, as it is a key metabolite of nicotine (Lopes et al 2014; Rodríguez-Álvarez et al 2014; Castiglioni et al 2015b; Baz-Lomba et al 2016b; Lai et al 2018; Mackie et al 2019). As there is a precedent for monitoring cotinine in wastewater, it is a member of the selected chemicals of concern, and it is indicative of nicotine consumption it is a very good candidate to consider further for wastewater monitoring in New Zealand.

In assessment of the remaining selected chemicals of concern, it will be crucial to initially determine if they are stable and detectable in wastewater, and if there are any other nonhuman sources which may be contributing to their presence in wastewater before further assessment is made. As for the POPs, the possibility of assessing many of these chemicals using the same sampling, extraction and analysis workflow should be considered.

³⁸ https://labtestsonline.org/tests/mercury

4.2 ILLICIT SUBSTANCES

As described above, wastewater monitoring for illicit substances is well-established worldwide. The New Zealand programme provides invaluable information for the New Zealand Police, Customs and Ministry of Health on patterns and changes in usage of these substances across the country. For example, heroin is generally undetectable in samples due to low opiate use within New Zealand³⁹. Increased detection could signal important changes to the New Zealand illicit drugs market. Fentanyl has also only recently been added to the illicit drugs analysis workflow and a baseline for its consumption is still being determined so that any changes in usage can be monitored. This is confounded by fentanyl also being legally prescribed for analgesia and sedation⁴⁰. An important feature of the illicit drug monitoring programme is that multiple metabolites can be analysed using the same sampling, extraction and analysis workflow, making it both time and cost effective. Methamphetamine (4-hydroxy-N-methylamphetamine), cocaine (benzoylecgonine and ecgonine methyl ester), fentanyl (norfentanyl), heroin (6-acetylmorphine and morphine) and MDMA (4-hydroxy-3methoxymethamphetamine), and their metabolites (indicated in brackets), are all collectively extracted from wastewater by solid phase extraction (SPE) then analysed by liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) (Chappell and Ashmore 2018). The different metabolites are then distinguished based on expected signal patterns and inclusion of reference standards. Not all substances covered by the Misuse of Drugs Act 1975 are currently monitored in wastewater in New Zealand. Two examples, morphine and lysergic acid diethylamide (LSD) have been analysed by the evaluation framework for their suitability for inclusion.

4.2.1 Framework evaluation – morphine

Morphine is a complicated biomarker with regards to wastewater monitoring. Whilst not strictly monitored for its usage as a class B drug it its own right, it is monitored as a metabolite of heroin. Metabolism of heroin produces 6-acetylmorphine (6-MAM) and morphine. 6-MAM is a heroin-specific metabolite but represents only around 1% of total heroin metabolised. This highlights a key limitation of wastewater monitoring for morphine with regards to the framework, as it is not specific to consumption of morphine. Additionally, morphine is also frequently legally prescribed for therapeutic uses⁴¹, meaning there are other sources in wastewater than just from illicit drug consumption. These limitations as they apply to heroin are addressed by the New Zealand programme, where in the absence of 6-MAM detection, back calculations of consumption are not performed using morphine (Chappell and Ashmore 2018). As 6-MAM represents only 1% of heroin metabolised, and heroin usage in New Zealand is low, 6-MAM is generally not detected. Given the morphine present in wastewater is not solely due its consumption as an illicit substance, it is unsuitable for wastewater monitoring.

³⁹ https://www.police.govt.nz/about-us/publication/national-wastewater-testing-programme-quarter-1-2019

⁴⁰ https://www.medsafe.govt.nz/profs/Datasheet/f/Fentanylinj.pdf

⁴¹ https://www.medsafe.govt.nz/profs/Datasheet/I/lamorphtab.pdf

4.2.2 Framework evaluation - LSD

Despite LSD being an important class A drug, there are very few wastewater monitoring studies which include LSD. This is likely due to LSD having a very low active dose, with effects seen from around 15 μ g, and a heavy dose being only 300 μ g (Baquiran and Khalili 2021). For example, a 2014 study analysing wastewaters in Sweden reported that LSD could not be detected above the limit of quantification of 10 ng/L (Östman et al 2014). With regards to the evaluation framework, this means that LSD would likely not be reliably detectable in wastewater, particularly in the absence of high consumption. For this reason, LSD is not a suitable candidate for wastewater monitoring.

4.3 NEW PSYCHOACTIVE SUBSTANCES

New psychoactive substances have already been the subject of two WBE studies in New Zealand. In a pilot study looking at illicit substances in wastewater in Auckland, the synthetic cannabinoid JWH-018 and methylone, a common ecstasy substitute were detected, albeit at relatively low levels (Lai et al 2017). Interestingly, mephedrone (bath salts), arguably one of the most popular NPS in New Zealand based on data from the Illicit Drug Monitoring System (IDMS), was not detected (Wilkins et al 2015). Although this has been suggested to be due to sampling during winter, when there were no events (eg, festivals) that may be associated with increased NPS consumption. The second more recent study focused on NPS consumption at four holiday destinations around New Zealand as part of a larger study into NPS usage over New Years in New Zealand, Australia, China, Spain, Italy, The Netherlands, Norway and the USA (Bade et al 2021). This study screened for the presence of over 200 NPS, with 26 being quantifiably examined. N-ethylpentylone, mephedrone, methylone, and eutylone were all detected in New Zealand wastewaters. Ketamine, and its metabolite norketamine, while not strictly NPS, were also detected. Another round of sampling was undertaken during the 2020-2021 New Year's period, and results are expected towards the end of 2021.

4.3.1 Framework evaluation

Similar to POPs, NPS include a potentially limitless number of biomarkers that could be examined by wastewater monitoring. However, in contrast to POPs, monitoring for NPS has the advantage that these can often be extracted and analysed together, and then individual NPS detected based on their expected peak in the mass spectrum. Moreover, to a certain extent you do not necessarily need to know exactly what you are looking for when running your analysis. For example, it is possible to screen mass spectra for peaks indicative of slight changes to the chemistry of known NPS, which may indicate the presence of a novel NPS which could then be interrogated further. It would not be possible to quantify these substances as this would require inclusion of a standard, but they may be useful as a qualitative measure. Additionally, it may also be possible to retrospectively screen spectra for a given NPS in light of new information such as a hospital admission or police seizure. The caveat is that absence of a peak may not mean the NPS was absent but rather that it was not extracted. It is important to note that this non-directed approach would only be possible for NPS that are amenable to the same extraction and detection method. There are also several limitations to the use of wastewater monitoring for NPS with respect to the evaluation framework. Firstly, very little is known about the metabolism of most NPS, so monitoring relies on detection of the parent

39

compound as the biomarker. If the NPS is well metabolised there will be very little parent compound left and it will likely not be detected. Detection is a major limitation of wastewater monitoring for NPS as these substances often have very high potency and so people do not need to use much to experience their effects. Combined with the relatively small number of people using a given NPS, they can be very difficult to detect and may fall below the limits of detection of the methodology used. Lastly, the fact that NPS are constantly changing means that comparability is often difficult. New NPS constantly enter the market and the prevalence of established NPS also varies making it difficult to examine long-term trends.

4.4 INFECTIOUS DISEASES

ESR is already monitoring wastewater for SARS-CoV-2 as part of New Zealand's COVID-19 surveillance strategy⁴². Considerable scope exists for expansion of this monitoring into a border health role. Monitoring of wastewater from international aircraft could provide an indirect means of assessing all new arrivals, complementing the current managed isolation nasopharyngeal testing regime. SARS-CoV-2 has already been shown to be detectable in wastewater from a commercial aircraft and cruise ship (Ahmed et al, 2020b). Furthermore, wastewater specifically from international airports could be monitored to indicate the potential arrival of infected individuals or spread of cases within border/airport workers.

The wastewater monitoring infrastructure that has been established in New Zealand as part of the COVID-19 response has the potential to be applied to a diverse range of infectious diseases. These could include diseases already present in the country, with the aim to track regional outbreaks. For example, wastewater monitoring has been used to track measles outbreaks in the Netherlands (Benschop et al 2017). Wastewater monitoring could also be used for early detection of new emerging diseases identified overseas. In this case, a border health surveillance approach as detailed above could be particularly relevant.

4.4.1 Framework evaluation – COVID-19

As COVID-19 is already the subject of wastewater monitoring programmes around the globe, this evaluation will be used to highlight the major advantages and limitations it presents with regards to the framework. The first important point is that given the very small number of COVID-19 cases in New Zealand, the monitoring fulfils more of a qualitative surveillance role rather than providing quantitative information on absolute number of cases. For this reason, considerations around the most accurate method for normalising results for population size are less crucial than they may be in other parts of the world, or indeed for other infectious diseases, where absolute number of cases is important (Polo et al 2020).

With regards to detection, wastewater monitoring is unlikely to reproducibly detect a single case within a catchment zone as the viral particles would be too diluted⁴³. However, this is dependent on the catchment size and the rate at which the virus is shed, which is often highly variable between individuals (reviewed in Jones et al 2020). In New Zealand, recent analysis has estimated the probability of detection of 10 cases per 120,000 people (0.01% prevalence)

⁴² https://www.esr.cri.nz/our-expertise/covid-19-response/other-covid-19-work/wastewater-faqs/

⁴³ https://www.esr.cri.nz/our-expertise/covid-19-response/other-covid-19-work/wastewater-faqs/

as 78% (Hewitt et al 2021). It is possible that detection would still be observed with fewer cases than this, but it is dependent on how much virus the infected individuals are shedding. Given this variability it is impossible to determine exactly how many infected individuals are present in a catchment zone based on the level of SARS-CoV-2 RNA detected. Nor is it possible to identify infected individuals based on monitoring data. Additionally, not all individuals infected with COVID-19 shed detectable levels of viral RNA in their faeces, so some cases will not be detected in wastewater (Parasa et al 2020).

Monitoring for COVID-19 is highly specific and any detection is confirmed using both internal standards and repeat analyses. This ensures that any reported presence of COVID-19 within a catchment is accurate. However, the caveat is that some people continue to shed viral particles after they have recovered and are no longer infectious. This can lead to detection in community wastewater samples once that person has been released from quarantine.

The major advantages of wastewater monitoring for COVID-19 as a complementary surveillance approach is that, as discussed above, it can detect cases within the population in advance of detection by clinical screening (WHO 2020b). This can alert regional health authorities to the potential need for elevated screening. Additionally, it allows potentially millions of people to be non-invasively screened en masse. This obviously allows many more individuals to be screened than could be feasible by clinical screening approaches. Thus, despite the limitations of wastewater monitoring for COVID-19, it still forms an essential part of the New Zealand surveillance program. This highlights the fact that wastewater monitoring for infectious diseases can still be very useful despite potential limitations, and decisions around whether a candidate disease is suitable for monitoring must weigh the putative benefits against the limitations.

5. CONCLUSIONS

Wastewater-Based Epidemiology has emerged globally as a powerful tool to monitor exposure to a wide range of substances and organisms. Wastewater monitoring can provide populationlevel, unbiased information on the overall health of a community, and can be used to inform public health responses and policy changes. In New Zealand, it is currently used to monitor illicit drug consumption and plays an important surveillance role in New Zealand's COVID-19 response; however, significant potential exists to expand wastewater monitoring in New Zealand to a wide range of other applications.

Several possible health determinants for wastewater monitoring have been presented in this report, and some promising candidates for further investigation have been identified. These include potential expansion of the drugs in wastewater programme to include new psychoactive substances. Successful pilot studies have already been performed in conjunction with Australian researchers. This programme could be further expanded to include legal substances such as tobacco (nicotine) and alcohol. Monitoring of tobacco consumption across the country could provide important information on usage patterns and inform the Smokefree Aotearoa 2025 programme. Similarly, information from monitoring of spatial and temporal alcohol consumption patterns could identify potentially 'at-risk' regions with high rates of consumption, directing the need for additional support in these areas.

Global health is facing perhaps its biggest challenge with the rise of antimicrobial resistance. Wastewater monitoring is proving invaluable for gaining a comprehensive picture of the diversity of AMR genes present in the environment. Although not yet a major problem in New Zealand, the threat posed by AMR is imminent, particularly given antibiotic usage in New Zealand healthcare supersedes that of many other developed nations. Wastewater monitoring of antimicrobial consumption in concert with surveillance for AMR could provide a powerful approach to direct education and public health responses, and potentially inform policy changes.

The value of wastewater monitoring as a component of infectious disease surveillance has been demonstrated by its essential role in global COVID-19 responses. Potential exists to expand this monitoring into the border health area by targeting wastewater from inbound international aircraft and international airports. Substantial infrastructure has been established both in New Zealand and globally to support wastewater monitoring for SARS-CoV-2. This provides an ideal opportunity for expansion of the COVID-19 wastewater monitoring programme to a wide range of infectious diseases, including diseases known to be present in New Zealand (eg, measles, common enteric viruses) and new emerging diseases. As such, WBE has huge potential to be developed as a complementary public health tool in New Zealand for monitoring spread of infectious diseases. This area of WBE is rapidly developing and has a very promising future as an important global health tool.

Wastewater-Based Epidemiology approaches for monitoring environmental contaminants and endogenous biomarkers of disease are still relatively in their infancy. Whilst these approaches are promising, caution must be taken to ensure they are scientifically sound before they are adopted in New Zealand.

There are many potential candidates for wastewater monitoring in New Zealand. However, limited resources necessitate important decisions around which are the most beneficial from a public health perspective. This report provides a framework for evaluating the suitability of candidate health determinants for wastewater monitoring. All decisions will need to weigh perceived benefits against the limitations outlined in this report.

Finally, but very importantly, any decisions around expansion of wastewater monitoring in New Zealand will need to include careful consideration of any social and ethical implications of the chosen programme, including responsibilities to Māori under Te Tiriti o Waitangi.



Table 2. Summary of global New Psychoactive	Substances (NPS) in wastewater	monitoring studies. Adapted from	Gent and Paul (2021).
			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

Year	Country	NPS	Reference
2013	United Kingdom	Methcathinone, mephedrone, butylone, 4-FPP, 2-MEOPP, MBZP	Mwenesongole et al (2013)
	The Netherlands	Ketamine	Bijlsma et al (2013)
	The Netherlands	MDA, fentanyl, ketamine, methcathinone	Van der Aa et al (2013)
	Norway	Cathine, JWH-018 N-5-hydroxypentyl	Reid et al (2014)
	Australia	BZP, mephedrone, methylone	Lai et al (2013)
	Australia	Mephedrone, methylone, MDPV, BZP, methcathinone, TFMPP	Chen et al (2013)
	Belgium	Ketamine	Van Nuijs et al (2013)
2014	United Kingdom	TFMPP, MDA, ephedrine, ketamine, norketamine	Baker et al (2014)
	Finland	MDPV	Kankaanpää et al (2014)
	Finland	MDPV	Vuori et al (2014)

2015	Belgium and Switzerland	methoxetamine, butylone, ethylone, PMMA	Kinyua et al (2015)
	Greece	JWH-210, JWH-122, CP47-497, α-PVP	Borova et al (2015)
	Italy	Ketamine, mephedrone	Castiglioni et al (2015a)
	Croatia	Flephedrone, methylone, methedrone, mephedrone, ketamine, norketamine	Senta et al (2015)
2016	United Kingdom, Spain and Italy	MEPH, METC, 4-FMC, 4-MEC, ETHL, MDPV, DCAT	González-Mariño et al (2016a)
	United Kingdom	MDA, MDEA, ephedrine, mephedrone, ketamine	Castrignanò et al (2016)
	Italy	Buphedrone, 4-MEC, pentedrone	González-Mariño et al (2016b)
	Norway	Methylone, ketamine, methoxetamine, JWH-073, XLR-11, UR-144, AM-2201, JWH-018, MAM-2201, JWH-122, JWH-018 N-pentanoic acid, JWH 018 N-5- hydroxypentyl, JWH-073 N-butanoic acid, JWH-073 N-4-hydroxybutyl, JWH-122 N-5-hydroxypentyl, AM-2201 N-4-hydroxypentyl and RCS-4 N-5-hydroxypentyl	Baz-Lomba et al (2016a)
	Australia	Methylone, ketamine	Van Dyken et al (2016)
	Australia	Methylone, methcathinone, MDPV, mephedrone, TFMPP, BZP, α -PVP	Tscharke et al (2016b)
	Australia	Methylone	Thai et al (2016)
	Poland	Mephedrone, 4-MEC	Styszko et al (2016)
2017	United Kingdom, Belgium, Spain, Norway, Denmark, Italy, The Netherlands and Switzerland	Mephedrone, methylone, MDPV	Bade et al (2017)
	China	BZP, MDPV	Gao et al (2017)

	The Netherlands	MMA, 4-FA, MDEA, mCPP, 2C-B, fentanyl, 'L-759,633	Causanilles et al (2017)
	Spain	PMA, BUF, 4-MeO-PCP	Andrés-Costa et al (2017)
	Spain	Methylone, flephedrone, buphedrone, B = butylone, 4-MEP, mephedrone, pentedrone,3,4-DMMC, α -PVP, MDPV	Fontanals et al (2017)
	Australia	MDPV, MDA, 25H-NBome, α-PVP, ketamine	Bade et al (2018)
	USA	Mephedrone, PB-22, JWH-073, JWH-018	Asimakopoulos et al (2017)
	New Zealand	JWH-018, methylone	Lai et al (2017)
	South Africa	Mephedrone	Archer et al (2018)
2018	Norway, United Kingdom, Denmark, The Netherlands, Belgium, Switzerland, Italy and Spain	Mephedrone, MDA	Castrignanò et al (2018)
	China	Ephedrine, PMMA, ketamine, methcathinone, TFMPP, 2C-I	Chen et al (2018)
	Australia	Butylone, ethylone, a-PVP, methcathinone, MDPV, pentylone, mephedrone	Bade et al (2019b)
2019	Germany, Italy, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Serbia, Slovakia, Slovenia, Spain, the Netherlands, Ukraine	3,4-DMeO-α-PVP, 25H-NBoMe, 2-MA, DOIP, AMT, PMA, 2-PEA, N-methyl-2AI, DOIP, AMT, 25E-NBoMe, HDMP-28, isopropyl phenidate, AMB-FUBINACA, diphenidine	Salgueiro-González et al (2019)
	Greece	MDAI, methoxetamine, 2-Phenethylamine, N-Ethyl-Amphetamine, PMA, PMMA, O-Desmethyl-Tramadol, diphenhydramine, gabapentin, GHB, orphenadrine, pregabalin, quetiapine, venlafaxine, MePPP, MBZP, ethylphenidate,	Diamanti et al (2019)

		memantine, bufotenin (5-OH-DMT), ABCHMINACA, methedrone, methoxyphenamine, DMAA, DMT	
	Spain	Ketamine, dipentylone, butylone, mephedrone, methedrone, methylone	Celma et al (2019)
	Australia	Mephedrone, methylone	Bannwarth et al (2019)
	Australia	4-FA, MDA, 5F-APINACA, 5F-APINACA monohydroxylated, AM-2201, JWH- 018, JWH-073, UR-144, UR-144 N-pentanoic acid, 4-FMC, 4-MEC, α-PVP, butylone, ethylone, mephedrone, methcathinone, methylone, pentedrone, pentylone, U-47700, methiopropamine, methoxetamine.	Bade et al (2019c)
	Australia	TFMPP, MDA, a-PVP, ethylone, mephedrone, methcathinone, MDPV, PMA	Bade et al (2019a)
2020	Australia	Butylone, butyryl fentanyl, furanyl fentanyl, methoxetamine, N-ethylpentylone, valeryl fentanyl	Bade et al (2020)
	Maldives	Methylone, butylone, ethylone, mephedrone	Fallati et al (2020)
2021	New Zealand, Australia, China, Spain, Italy, The Netherlands, Norway, USA	25B–NBOMe, 25C–NBOMe, 25I–NBOMe, 3-EMC, 3-methylbuphedrone, 3- MMC, 4-FA, 4-FMC, 4-methylbuphedrone, 4-MEC, AH-7921, buphedrone, butyryl fentanyl, butylone, ethylone, furanyl fentanyl, mephedrone, methcathinone, methiopropamine, methoxetamine, MDPV, methylone, N- ethylpentylone, pentylone, U-47700, valeryl fentanyl	Bade et al (2021)

Indicator selection criteria	Explanation
Available data	Indicator must have data that can be easily and reliably extracted.
Scientifically valid	Indicator must have an established, scientifically-sound link to the environmental health issue.
Sensitive	Indicator should respond relatively quickly and noticeably to changes, but not show false movements.
Consistent	Indicator should be consistent with those used in other indicator monitoring programmes (including internationally), so comparisons can be made.
Comparable	Indicator should be consistent to allow comparisons over time.
Methodologically sound measurement	Indicator measurements need to be methodologically sound.
Intelligible and easily interpreted	Indicator should be sufficiently simple to be interpreted in practice and be intuitive in the sense that it is obvious what the indicator is measuring.
Able to be disaggregated	Indicator needs to be able to be broken down into population subgroups or areas of particular interest, such as ethnic groups or regional areas.
Timely	Data needs to be collected and reported regularly and frequently, to ensure it is reflecting current and not historical trends.
Public Health impact	Indicator needs to relate to an environmental health issue of significant public health impact to New Zealand. This health impact may include affecting a large number of people, a vulnerable population, or Māori health; or having substantial policy relevance.

Table 3. Environmental Health Indicator selection criteria. Adapted from Mason et al (2018).

	Pesticide	Industrial Chemical
Annex A (Elimination)	Aldrin	Hexabromodiphenyl and heptabromodiphenyl ethers (commercial octabromodiphenyl ether)
	Chlordane	Hexabromocyclododecane (HBCDD)
	Chlordecone	Decabromodiphenyl ether (commercial mixture, c-decaBDE)
	Dicofol	Hexabromophenyl
	Dieldrin	Hexachlorobenzene (HCB)
	Endrin	Hexachlorobutadiene (HCBD)
	Heptachlor	Pentachlorobenzene
	Alpha hexachlorocyclohexane	Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCB)
	Beta hexachlorocyclohexane	Polychlorinated naphthalenes (PCNs)
	Lindane	Perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA), its salts and related compounds
	Mirex	Short-chained chlorinated paraffins
	Pentachlorobenzene	Tetrabromodiphenyl ether and pentabromodiphenyl ether (commercial pentabromodiphenyl ether)
	Pentachlorophenol, its salts and esters (PCP)	
	Technical endosulfan and its related isomers	
	Toxaphene	
Annex B (Restriction)	DDT	Perfluorooctane sulfonic acid (PFOS), its salts and PFOS-fluoride (PFOS-F) (also an insecticide)
Annex C (unintentional production)	Hexachlorobenzene	Hexachlorobutadiene (HCBD)
	Pentachlorobenzene (PeCB)	Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCB)
	Polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins (PCDD)	Polychlorinated dibenzofurans (PCDF)
	Polychlorinated naphthalenes (PCNs)	

Table 4. Persistent Organic Pollutants (POPs) listed in the Stockholm Convention.

Annex C chemicals are all unintentional by-products.

Table 5. Persistent organic pollutants (POPs) detected in New Zealand breast milk and serum biomonitoring surveys.

Class of Substance	POPs Tested	POPs Detected [*]	Chemical names	Reference
OCPs	13	3	Hexachlorobenzene (HCB), dieldrin, DDT	Bates et al (1994)
PCBs	16	3	138, 153, 180	Bates et al (1994)
			2,3,7,8-TCDF, 2,3,7,8-TCDD, 2,3,4,7,8-PeCDF, 1,2,3,7,8- PeCDD, 1,2,3,4,7,8-HxCDF/	
PCDDs/PCDFs	15	11	1,2,3,6,7,8-HxCDF, 2,3,4,6,7,8- HxCDF, 1,2,3,4,7,8-HxCDD/	Bates et al (1994)
			1,2,3,6,7,8-HxCDD, 1,2,3,7,8,9- HxCDD, 1,2,3,4,6,7,8-HpCDF, 1,2,3,4,6,7,8-HpCDD, OCDD	
OCPs	4	4	β - HCH, HCB, dieldrin, DDT	Bates et al (2002)
PCBs	6	6	74, 118, 138, 153, 170, 180	Bates et al (2002)
PCDDs/PCDFs	12	12	2,3,7,8-TCDF, 2,3,7,8-TCDD, 1,2,3,7,8-PeCDF, 2,3,4,7,8-PeCDF, 1,2,3,7,8-PeCDD, 1,2,3,7,8,9- HxCDF, 1,2,3,7,8,9-HxCDD, 1,2,3,4,6,7,8-HpCDF, 1,2,3,4,7,8,9- HpCDF, 1,2,3,4,6,7,8-HpCDD, OCDF, OCDD	Bates et al (2002)
OCPs	13	8	α-HCH, β -HCH, HCB, dieldrin, heptachlor, chlordane, DDT, mirex	Mannetje et al (2013)
PCBs	43	35	15, 28, 37, 44, 49, 52, 70, 74, 99, 101, 105, 110, 114, 118, 123, 126, 138, 153, 155, 156, 157, 167, 169, 170, 180, 183, 187, 189, 194, 196/203, 202, 205, 206, 208, 209	Mannetje et al (2013)
PCDDs/PCDFs	17	9	2,3,7,8-TCDD, 1,2,3,7,8-PeCDD, 2,3,4,7,8-PeCDF, 1,2,3,4,7,8- HxCDF, 1,2,3,6,7,8-HxCDF, 1,2,3,4,6,7,8-HpCDF, 1,2,3,6,7,8- HxCDD, 1,2,3,4,6,7,8-HpCDD, OCDD	Mannetje et al (2013)
OCPs	9	3	β -HCH, dieldrin, DDT (detected as DDE)	Bates et al (2004)
PCBs	10	10	74, 118, 126, 138/158, 153, 169, 170, 180, 187, 194	Bates et al (2004)

E/S/R Wastewater-based epidemiology: A framework to identify and prioritise health determinants for wastewater monitoring

PCDDs/PCDFs	17	14	2,3,7,8-TCDD, 1,2,3,7,8-PeCDD, 1,2,3,4,7,8-HxCDD, 1,2,3,6,7,8- HxCDD, 1,2,3,7,8,9-HxCDD, 1,2,3,4,6,7,8-HpCDD, OCDD, 2,3,7,8-TCDF, 2,3,4,7,8-PeCDF, 1,2,3,4,7,8-HxCDF, 1,2,3,6,7,8- HxCDF, 2,3,4,6,7,8-HxCDF, 1,2,3,4,6,7,8-HpCDF, 1,2,3,4,7,8,9- HpCDF	Bates et al (2004)
-------------	----	----	--	--------------------

*Above LOD in majority of samples tested. Detection of metabolites of a POP are treated as detection of that POP. Eg, DDE detection is indicative of DDT. PCB, polychlorinated biphenyls; PCDD, polychlorinated dibenzo-*p*-dioxins; PCDF, polychlorinated dibenzofurans; OCP, organochlorine pesticides. HCH, hexachlorocyclohexane.

Class of Substance	Chemical name	FOD* adults (%)	GM conc. adult (µg/L)	FOD child	GM conc. child (µg/L)
Metal/metalloids	Lead	100	13	100	8
	Mercury	99	1.6	93	0.9
	Arsenic – inorganic	79	4.2	74	3.2
	Arsenic - organic	68	3.5	53	1.5
	Cadmium	89	0.19	53	0.07
	Chromium	59	0.05	44	0.03
	Thallium	97	0.2	79	0.05
	Antimony	90	0.06	99	0.09
Cotinine	Cotinine	11	563	2	12
Fluoride	Fluoride	100	760	100	630
Phenols	BPA	93	1.8	89	2.2
	Triclosan	85	4.8	92	3.9
	BP-3	100	18.4	100	20.8
	tOP	3	-	3	-
Parabens	Methylparaben	100	17.5	100	11.9
	n-propylparaben	100	3.4	99	2.1
	Ethylparaben	100	1.4	98	0.7
	Butylparaben	32	-	33	-

Table 6. Frequency of detection of selected chemicals of concern in adult and child blood and urine.

Phthalate metabolites	DMP	4	-	10	-
	DEP	96	19.1	64	12.9
	DBP	100	3.7	100	60.6
	BBzP	82	4.2	93	7.7
	mEHP	82	2	90	3
	mEOHP	99	7	100	14
	mEHHP	96	9	98	18
	DCHP	1	-	0	-
	DOP	63	2.4	76	3.3
	DiNP	1	-	0	-

^{*}FOD, frequency of detection. GM, geometric mean. ND, not determined. mEHP, mEOHP and mEHHP are all metabolites of DEHP. BPA, bisphenol A; BP-3, benzophenone-3; tOP, 4-tert-octylphenol; DMP, dimethyl phthalate; DEP, diethyl phthalate; DBP, dibutyl phthalate; BBzP, butylbenzyl phthalate; DEHP, di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate; mEHP, mono-2-ethylhexyl phthalate; mEOHP, mono-(2-ethyl-5-oxohexyl) phthalate; mEHP, mono-(2-ethyl-5-hydroxyhexyl) phthalate; DCHP, dicyclohexyl phthalate; DOP, di-n-octyl phthalate; DINP, di-iso-nonyl phthalate. Lead and mercury were analysed in blood. The remaining chemicals were analysed in urine.

REFERENCES

- Agoro MA, Adeniji AO, Adefisoye MA, et al. 2020. Heavy metals in wastewater and sewage sludge from selected municipal treatment plants in Eastern Cape Province, South Africa. *Water* 12: 2746.
- Ahmed W, Angel N, Edson J, et al. 2020a. First confirmed detection of SARS-CoV-2 in untreated wastewater in Australia: A proof of concept for the wastewater surveillance of COVID-19 in the community. *Science of the Total Environment* 728: 138764.
- Ahmed W, Bertsch PM, Angel N, et al. 2020b. Detection of SARS-CoV-2 RNA in commercial passenger aircraft and cruise ship wastewater: a surveillance tool for assessing the presence of COVID-19 infected travellers. *Journal of Travel Medicine* 27: taaa116.
- Ahmed W, Harwood VJ, Gyawali P, et al. 2015. Comparison of concentration methods for quantitative detection of sewage-associated viral markers in environmental waters. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 81: 2042-2049.
- An M, Gao Y. 2015. Urinary biomarkers of brain diseases. *Genomics, Proteomics and Bioinformatics* 13: 345-354.
- Andrés-Costa MJ, Escrivá U, Andreu V, et al. 2016. Estimation of alcohol consumption during "Fallas" festivity in the wastewater of Valencia city (Spain) using ethyl sulfate as a biomarker. *Science of the Total Environment* 541: 616-622.
- Andrés-Costa MJ, Pascual-Aguilar J, Andreu V, et al. 2017. Assessing drugs of abuse distribution in Turia River based on geographic information system and liquid chromatography mass spectrometry. *Science of the Total Environment* 609: 360-369.
- Archer E, Castrignanò E, Kasprzyk-Hordern B, et al. 2018. Wastewater-based epidemiology and enantiomeric profiling for drugs of abuse in South African wastewaters. *Science of the Total Environment* 625: 792-800.
- Asghar H, Diop OM, Weldegebriel G, et al. 2014. Environmental surveillance for polioviruses in the Global Polio Eradication Initiative. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases* 210 Suppl 1: S294-303.
- Asimakopoulos AG, Kannan P, Higgins S, et al. 2017. Determination of 89 drugs and other micropollutants in unfiltered wastewater and freshwater by LC-MS/MS: an alternative sample preparation approach. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry* 409: 6205-6225.
- ATSDR. 1993. *Toxicological profile for aldrin/dieldrin*, Atlanta, US Public Health Service, Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR). ATSDR/TP-92/01.
- Bade R, Abdelaziz A, Nguyen L, et al. 2020. Determination of 21 synthetic cathinones, phenethylamines, amphetamines and opioids in influent wastewater using liquid chromatography coupled to tandem mass spectrometry. *Talanta* 208: 120479.
- Bade R, Bijlsma L, Sancho JV, et al. 2017. Liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry determination of synthetic cathinones and phenethylamines in influent wastewater of eight European cities. *Chemosphere* 168: 1032-1041.
- Bade R, Ghetia M, Nguyen L, et al. 2019a. Simultaneous determination of 24 opioids, stimulants and new psychoactive substances in wastewater. *MethodsX* 6: 953-960.
- Bade R, Stockham P, Painter B, et al. 2019b. Investigating the appearance of new psychoactive substances in South Australia using wastewater and forensic data. *Drug Testing and Analysis* 11: 250-256.
- Bade R, Tscharke BJ, White JM, et al. 2019c. LC-HRMS suspect screening to show spatial patterns of New Psychoactive Substances use in Australia. *Science of the Total Environment* 650: 2181-2187.

- Bade R, White JM, Chen J, et al. 2021. International snapshot of new psychoactive substance use: Case study of eight countries over the 2019/2020 new year period. *Water Research* 193: 116891.
- Bade R, White JM, Gerber C. 2018. Qualitative and quantitative temporal analysis of licit and illicit drugs in wastewater in Australia using liquid chromatography coupled to mass spectrometry. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry* 410: 529-542.
- Baker DR, Barron L, Kasprzyk-Hordern B. 2014. Illicit and pharmaceutical drug consumption estimated via wastewater analysis. Part A: chemical analysis and drug use estimates. *Science of the Total Environment* 487: 629-641.
- Bannwarth A, Morelato M, Benaglia L, et al. 2019. The use of wastewater analysis in forensic intelligence: drug consumption comparison between Sydney and different European cities. *Forensic Sciences Research* 4: 141-151.
- Baquiran M, Al Khalili Y. 2021. Lysergic acid diethylamide toxicity. In *StatPearls [Internet]*. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing
- Baselt RC. 1982. Disposition of toxic drugs and chemicals in man, pp. 220-222: 2nd Edition. Biomedical Publications, Davis, California, USA.
- Bates MN, Buckland SJ, Garrett N, et al. 2004. Persistent organochlorines in the serum of the non-occupationally exposed New Zealand population. *Chemosphere* 54: 1431-1443.
- Bates MN, Hannah DJ, Buckland SJ, et al. 1994. Chlorinated organic contaminants in breast milk of New Zealand women. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 102 Suppl 1: 211-217.
- Bates MN, Thomson B, Garrett N. 2002. Reduction in organochlorine levels in the milk of New Zealand women. *Archives of Environmental Health* 57: 591-597.
- Baz-Lomba JA, Reid MJ, Thomas KV. 2016a. Target and suspect screening of psychoactive substances in sewage-based samples by UHPLC-QTOF. *Analytica Chimica Acta* 914: 81-90.
- Baz-Lomba JA, Salvatore S, Gracia-Lor E, et al. 2016b. Comparison of pharmaceutical, illicit drug, alcohol, nicotine and caffeine levels in wastewater with sale, seizure and consumption data for 8 European cities. *BMC Public Health* 16: 1035.
- Behera SK, Kim HW, Oh JE, et al. 2011. Occurrence and removal of antibiotics, hormones and several other pharmaceuticals in wastewater treatment plants of the largest industrial city of Korea. *Science of the Total Environment* 409: 4351-4360.
- Benschop KSM, van der Avoort HG, Jusic E, et al. 2017. Polio and measles down the drain: environmental enterovirus surveillance in the Netherlands, 2005 to 2015. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 83
- Bijlsma L, Emke E, Hernández F, et al. 2013. Performance of the linear ion trap Orbitrap mass analyzer for qualitative and quantitative analysis of drugs of abuse and relevant metabolites in sewage water. *Analytica Chimica Acta* 768: 102-110.
- Bijlsma L, Picó Y, Andreu V, et al. 2021. The embodiment of wastewater data for the estimation of illicit drug consumption in Spain. *Science of the Total Environment* 772: 144794.
- Bijlsma L, Sancho JV, Pitarch E, et al. 2009. Simultaneous ultra-high-pressure liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry determination of amphetamine and amphetamine-like stimulants, cocaine and its metabolites, and a cannabis metabolite in surface water and urban wastewater. *Journal of Chromatography A* 1216: 3078-3089.
- Bloom DE, Cadarette D. 2019. Infectious disease threats in the twenty-first century: strengthening the global response. *Frontiers in Immunology* 10: 549.
- Borova VL, Gago-Ferrero P, Pistos C, et al. 2015. Multi-residue determination of 10 selected new psychoactive substances in wastewater samples by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. *Talanta* 144: 592-603.
- Bowes DA, Halden RU. 2019. Theoretical evaluation of using wastewater-based epidemiology to assess the nutritional status of human populations. *Current Opinion in Environmental Science and Health* 9: 58-63.

- Brewer AJ, Banta-Green CJ, Ort C, et al. 2016. Wastewater testing compared with random urinalyses for the surveillance of illicit drug use in prisons. *Drug and Alcohol Review* 35: 133-137.
- Campo J, Masiá A, Blasco C, et al. 2013. Occurrence and removal efficiency of pesticides in sewage treatment plants of four Mediterranean River Basins. *Journal of Hazardous Materials* 263 Pt 1: 146-157.
- Canadian Water Network. 2020. *Ethics and communications guidance for wastewater surveillance to inform public-health decision-making about COVID-19. Draft guidance, Version 4, September 2020.* Ontario: Canadian Coalition on Wastewater-related COVID-19 Research, Canadian Water Network.
- Carrascal M, Abian J, Ginebreda A, et al. 2020. Discovery of large molecules as new biomarkers in wastewater using environmental proteomics and suitable polymer probes. *Science of the Total Environment* 747: 141145.
- Castiglioni S, Bijlsma L, Covaci A, et al. 2013. Evaluation of uncertainties associated with the determination of community drug use through the measurement of sewage drug biomarkers. *Environmental Science and Technology* 47: 1452-1460.
- Castiglioni S, Borsotti A, Senta I, et al. 2015a. Wastewater analysis to monitor spatial and temporal patterns of use of two synthetic recreational drugs, ketamine and mephedrone, in Italy. *Environmental Science & Technology* 49: 5563-5570.
- Castiglioni S, Senta I, Borsotti A, et al. 2015b. A novel approach for monitoring tobacco use in local communities by wastewater analysis. *Tobacco Control* 24: 38-42.
- Castiglioni S, Thomas KV, Kasprzyk-Hordern B, et al. 2014. Testing wastewater to detect illicit drugs: state of the art, potential and research needs. *Science of the Total Environment* 487: 613-620.
- Castiglioni S, Gracia Lor E. 2016. *Target drug residues in wastewater.* In Assessing illicit drugs in wastewater: advances in wastewater-based drug epidemiology, pp. 35-43. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.
- Castrignanò E, Lubben A, Kasprzyk-Hordern B. 2016. Enantiomeric profiling of chiral drug biomarkers in wastewater with the usage of chiral liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry. *Journal of Chromatography A* 1438: 84-99.
- Castrignanò E, Yang Z, Bade R, et al. 2018. Enantiomeric profiling of chiral illicit drugs in a pan-European study. *Water Research* 130: 151-160.
- Causanilles A, Kinyua J, Ruttkies C, et al. 2017. Qualitative screening for new psychoactive substances in wastewater collected during a city festival using liquid chromatography coupled to high-resolution mass spectrometry. *Chemosphere* 184: 1186-1193.
- Celma A, Sancho JV, Salgueiro-González N, et al. 2019. Simultaneous determination of new psychoactive substances and illicit drugs in sewage: Potential of micro-liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry in wastewater-based epidemiology. *Journal of Chromatography A* 1602: 300-309.
- Chappell A, Ashmore E. 2018. *Wastewater analysis for illicit drugs monthly report* September 2018. Porirua: The Institute of Environmental Science and Research Ltd.
- Chen C, Kostakis C, Gerber JP, et al. 2014. Towards finding a population biomarker for wastewater epidemiology studies. *Science of the Total Environment* 487: 621-628.
- Chen C, Kostakis C, Irvine RJ, et al. 2013. Increases in use of novel synthetic stimulant are not directly linked to decreased use of 3,4-methylenedioxy-N-methylamphetamine (MDMA). *Forensic Science International* 231: 278-283.
- Chen J, Venkatesan AK, Halden RU. 2019. Alcohol and nicotine consumption trends in three U.S. communities determined by wastewater-based epidemiology. *Science of the Total Environment* 656: 174-183.
- Chen PP, Du P, Zhou ZL, et al. 2018. [Optimization and validation of the analytical method to detect new psychoactive substances in wastewater]. *Huan Jing Ke Xue* 39: 3736-3743.

- Choi PM, Bowes DA, O'Brien JW, et al. 2020a. Do food and stress biomarkers work for wastewater-based epidemiology? A critical evaluation. *Science of the Total Environment* 736: 139654.
- Choi PM, Li J, Gao J, et al. 2020b. Considerations for assessing stability of wastewaterbased epidemiology biomarkers using biofilm-free and sewer reactor tests. *Science of the Total Environment* 709: 136228.
- Choi PM, O'Brien JW, Li J, et al. 2018. Population histamine burden assessed using wastewater-based epidemiology: The association of 1,4 methylimidazole acetic acid and fexofenadine. *Environment International* 120: 172-180.
- Clara M, Strenn B, Gans O, et al. 2005. Removal of selected pharmaceuticals, fragrances and endocrine disrupting compounds in a membrane bioreactor and conventional wastewater treatment plants. *Water Research* 39: 4797-4807.
- Clara M, Windhofer G, Hartl W, et al. 2010. Occurrence of phthalates in surface runoff, untreated and treated wastewater and fate during wastewater treatment. *Chemosphere* 78: 1078-1084.
- Clesceri LS, Greenberg AE, Eaton AD. 1998. *Standard methods for the examination of water and wastewater, 20th Edition.* American Public Health Association.
- Corpuz MVA, Buonerba A, Vigliotta G, et al. 2020. Viruses in wastewater: occurrence, abundance and detection methods. *Science of the Total Environment* 745: 140910.
- Daglioglu N, Atasoy A, Asadi A, et al. 2020. Estimating alcohol consumption by using wastewater-based epidemiology in Adana Province, Turkey. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research* 27: 31884-31891.
- Daughton CG. 2001. Proposed new nonintrusive tool to heighten public awareness of societal use of illicit-abused drugs and their potential for ecological consequences. In: Pharmaceuticals and Care Products in the Environment ed. CG Daughton, TL Jones-Lepp, pp. 348-364. online: American Chemical Society.
- Daughton CG. 2018. Monitoring wastewater for assessing community health: Sewage Chemical-Information Mining (SCIM). *Science of the Total Environment* 619-620: 748-764.
- de Jong G. 1991. Long-term health effects of aldrin and dieldrin: a study of exposure, health effects and mortality of workers engaged in the manufacture and formulation of the insecticides aldrin and dieldrin. Amsterdam, Netherlands; Elsevier Science Publishers B.V.
- Diamanti K, Aalizadeh R, Alygizakis N, et al. 2019. Wide-scope target and suspect screening methodologies to investigate the occurrence of new psychoactive substances in influent wastewater from Athens. *Science of the Total Environment* 685: 1058-1065.
- Duncan D, Harvey F, Walker M, et al. 2007. *EPA guidelines: regulatory monitoring and testing water and wastewater samples*. Adelaide: Environment Protection Authority.
- Fallati L, Castiglioni S, Galli P, et al. 2020. Use of legal and illegal substances in Male (Republic of Maldives) assessed by wastewater analysis. *Science of the Total Environment* 698: 134207.
- Ferré S. 2013. Caffeine and substance use disorders. *Journal of Caffeine Research* 3: 57-58.
- Fontanals N, Marce RM, Borrull F. 2017. Solid-phase extraction followed by liquid chromatography-high resolution mass spectrometry to determine synthetic cathinones in different types of environmental water samples. *Journal of Chromatography A* 1524: 66-73.
- Gable L, Ram N, Ram JL. 2020. Legal and ethical implications of wastewater monitoring of SARS-CoV-2 for COVID-19 surveillance. *Journal of Law and the Biosciences* 7: Isaa039.
- Gao J, Zheng Q, Lai FY, et al. 2020. Using wastewater-based epidemiology to estimate consumption of alcohol and nicotine in major cities of China in 2014 and 2016. *Environment International* 136: 105492.

- Gao T, Du P, Xu Z, et al. 2017. Occurrence of new psychoactive substances in wastewater of major Chinese cities. *Science of the Total Environment* 575: 963-969.
- Gent L, Paul R. 2021. The detection of new psychoactive substances in wastewater. A comprehensive review of analytical approaches and global trends. *Science of the Total Environment* 776
- González-Mariño I, Gracia-Lor E, Bagnati R, et al. 2016a. Screening new psychoactive substances in urban wastewater using high resolution mass spectrometry. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry* 408: 4297-4309.
- González-Mariño I, Gracia-Lor E, Rousis NI, et al. 2016b. Wastewater-based epidemiology to monitor synthetic cathinones use in different European countries. *Environmental Science & Technology* 50: 10089-10096.
- Gracia-Lor E, Rousis NI, Zuccato E, et al. 2017a. Estimation of caffeine intake from analysis of caffeine metabolites in wastewater. *Science of the Total Environment* 609: 1582-1588.
- Gracia-Lor E, Castiglioni S, Bade R, et al. 2017b. Measuring biomarkers in wastewater as a new source of epidemiological information: Current state and future perspectives. *Environment International* 99: 131-150.
- Gracia-Lor E, Rousis NI, Zuccato E, et al. 2020. Monitoring caffeine and nicotine use in a nationwide study in Italy using wastewater-based epidemiology. *Science of the Total Environment* 747: 141331.
- Gracia-Lor E, Zuccato E, Castiglioni S. 2016. Refining correction factors for back-calculation of illicit drug use. *Science of the Total Environment* 573: 1648-1659.
- Guerra P, Kim M, Shah A, et al. 2014. Occurrence and fate of antibiotic, analgesic/antiinflammatory, and antifungal compounds in five wastewater treatment processes. *Science of the Total Environment* 473-474: 235-243.
- Guo J, Li J, Chen H, et al. 2017. Metagenomic analysis reveals wastewater treatment plants as hotspots of antibiotic resistance genes and mobile genetic elements. *Water Research* 123: 468-478.
- Hall W, Prichard J, Kirkbride P, et al. 2012. An analysis of ethical issues in using wastewater analysis to monitor illicit drug use. *Addiction* 107: 1767-1773.
- Hamza IA, Jurzik L, Wilhelm M. 2014. Development of a Luminex assay for the simultaneous detection of human enteric viruses in sewage and river water. *Journal of Virological Methods* 204: 65-72.
- Hellmér M, Paxeus N, Magnius L, et al. 2014. Detection of pathogenic viruses in sewage provided early warnings of hepatitis A virus and norovirus outbreaks. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 80: 6771-6781.
- Hendriksen RS, Munk P, Njage P, et al. 2019. Global monitoring of antimicrobial resistance based on metagenomics analyses of urban sewage. *Nature Communications* 10: 1124.
- Hernández-Díaz S, Varas-Lorenzo C, Garcia Rodríguez LA. 2006. Non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs and the risk of acute myocardial infarction. *Basic and Clinical Pharmacology and Toxicology* 98: 266-274.
- Hewitt J, Trowsdale S, Armstrong B, et al. 2021. Known symptomatic and asymptomatic COVID-19 case numbers in New Zealand allows accurate calculation of SARS-CoV-2 RNA detection sensitivity in wastewater. In preparation.
- Hovi T, Shulman LM, van der Avoort H, et al. 2012. Role of environmental poliovirus surveillance in global polio eradication and beyond. *Epidemiology and Infection* 140: 1-13.
- Huang QS, Greening G, Baker MG, et al. 2005. Persistence of oral polio vaccine virus after its removal from the immunisation schedule in New Zealand. *The Lancet* 366: 394-396.
- Ibrahim C, Hammami S, Mejri S, et al. 2017. Detection of Aichi virus genotype B in two lines of wastewater treatment processes. *Microbial Pathogenesis* 109: 305-312.

- Ikner LA, Soto-Beltran M, Bright KR. 2011. New method using a positively charged microporous filter and ultrafiltration for concentration of viruses from tap water. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 77: 3500-3506.
- Izquierdo-Lara R, Elsinga G, Heijnen L, et al. 2021. Monitoring SARS-CoV-2 circulation and diversity through community wastewater sequencing, the Netherlands and Belgium. *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 27: 1405-1415.
- Jahne MA, Brinkman NE, Keely SP, et al. 2020. Droplet digital PCR quantification of norovirus and adenovirus in decentralized wastewater and graywater collections: Implications for onsite reuse. *Water Research* 169: 115213.
- Jones DL, Baluja MQ, Graham DW, et al. 2020. Shedding of SARS-CoV-2 in feces and urine and its potential role in person-to-person transmission and the environment-based spread of COVID-19. *Science of the Total Environment* 749: 141364.
- Kahle M, Buerge IJ, Hauser A, et al. 2008. Azole fungicides: occurrence and fate in wastewater and surface waters. *Environmental Science and Technology* 42: 7193-7200.
- Kankaanpää A, Ariniemi K, Heinonen M, et al. 2014. Use of illicit stimulant drugs in Finland: a wastewater study in ten major cities. *Science of the Total Environment* 487: 696-702.
- Kargar M, Javdani N, Najafi A, et al. 2013. First molecular detection of group A rotavirus in urban and hospital sewage systems by nested-RT PCR in Shiraz, Iran. *Journal of Environmental Health Science and Engineering* 11: 4.
- Kasprzyk-Hordern B, Dinsdale RM, Guwy AJ. 2009. The removal of pharmaceuticals, personal care products, endocrine disruptors and illicit drugs during wastewater treatment and its impact on the quality of receiving waters. *Water Research* 43: 363-380.
- Khan U, van Nuijs AL, Li J, et al. 2014. Application of a sewage-based approach to assess the use of ten illicit drugs in four Chinese megacities. *Science of the Total Environment* 487: 710-721.
- Kim S, Choi K. 2014. Occurrences, toxicities, and ecological risks of benzophenone-3, a common component of organic sunscreen products: a mini-review. *Environment International* 70: 143-157.
- Kinyua J, Covaci A, Maho W, et al. 2015. Sewage-based epidemiology in monitoring the use of new psychoactive substances: Validation and application of an analytical method using LC-MS/MS. *Drug Testing and Analysis* 7: 812-818.
- Lai FY, Gartner C, Hall W, et al. 2018. Measuring spatial and temporal trends of nicotine and alcohol consumption in Australia using wastewater-based epidemiology. *Addiction* 113: 1127-1136.
- Lai FY, Thai PK, O'Brien J, et al. 2013. Using quantitative wastewater analysis to measure daily usage of conventional and emerging illicit drugs at an annual music festival. *Drug and Alcohol Review* 32: 594-602.
- Lai FY, Wilkins C, Thai P, et al. 2017. An exploratory wastewater analysis study of drug use in Auckland, New Zealand. *Drug and Alcohol Review* 36: 597-601.
- Lizasoain A, Mir D, Masachessi G, et al. 2021. Environmental surveillance through nextgeneration sequencing to unveil the diversity of human enteroviruses beyond the reported clinical cases. *Viruses* 13
- Loos R, Carvalho R, Antonio DC, et al. 2013. EU-wide monitoring survey on emerging polar organic contaminants in wastewater treatment plant effluents. *Water Research* 47: 6475-6487.
- Lopes A, Silva N, Bronze MR, et al. 2014. Analysis of cocaine and nicotine metabolites in wastewater by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. Cross abuse index patterns on a major community. *Science of the Total Environment* 487: 673-680.
- López-García E, Pérez-López C, Postigo C, et al. 2020. Assessing alcohol consumption through wastewater-based epidemiology: Spain as a case study. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence* 215: 108241.

Lorenzo M, Picó Y. 2019. Wastewater based-epidemiology: current status and future prospects. *Current Opinion in Environmental Science and Health* 9: 77-84.

Lun JH, Hewitt J, Sitabkhan A, et al. 2018. Emerging recombinant noroviruses identified by clinical and waste water screening. *Emerging Microbes and Infections* 7: 50.

- Luo Y, Guo W, Ngo HH, et al. 2014. A review on the occurrence of micropollutants in the aquatic environment and their fate and removal during wastewater treatment. *Science of the Total Environment* 473-474: 619-641.
- Mackie RS, Tscharke BJ, O'Brien JW, et al. 2019. Trends in nicotine consumption between 2010 and 2017 in an Australian city using the wastewater-based epidemiology approach. *Environment International* 125: 184-190.
- Mannetje A, Coakley J, Bridgen P, et al. 2013. Current concentrations, temporal trends and determinants of persistent organic pollutants in breast milk of New Zealand women. *Science of the Total Environment* 458-460: 399-407.

Mannetje A, Coakley J, Douwes J. 2018. *Report on the biological monitoring of selected chemicals of concern: results of the New Zealand biological monitoring programme, 2014-2016.* Wellington: Massey University.

Manning S, Walton M. 2020a. *Ethical and Responsible Development of Wastewater-based Epidemiology Technologies*. Wellington: Institute of Environmental Science and Research Ltd.

- Manning S, Walton M. 2020b. Summary of Findings: Ethical and Responsible Development of Wastewater-based Epidemiology Technologies. Wellington: Institute of Environmental Science and Research Ltd.
- Masclaux FG, Hotz P, Gashi D, et al. 2014. Assessment of airborne virus contamination in wastewater treatment plants. *Environmental Research* 133: 260-265.
- Mason K, Lindberg K, Read D, et al. 2018. The importance of using public health impact criteria to develop environmental health indicators: the example of the indoor environment in New Zealand. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 15
- McCall AK, Bade R, Kinyua J, et al. 2016. Critical review on the stability of illicit drugs in sewers and wastewater samples. *Water Research* 88: 933-947.
- Medema G, Heijnen L, Elsinga G, et al. 2020. Presence of SARS-Coronavirus-2 RNA in sewage and correlation with reported COVID-19 prevalence in the early stage of the epidemic in the Netherlands. *Environmental Science and Technology Letters* 7: 511-516.
- Ministry of Health. 2015. *Alcohol use 2012/13: New Zealand health survey*. Wellington: Ministry of Health.
- Ministry of Health, Ministry for Primary Industries. 2017a. *Antimicrobial resistance: New Zealand's current situation and identified areas for action*. Wellington: Ministry of Health and Ministry for Primary Industries.
- Ministry of Health, Ministry for Primary Industries. 2017b. New Zealand antimicrobial resistance action plan. Wellington: Ministry of Health.
- Misuse of Drugs Act. 1975.
- Mitchell DC, Knight CA, Hockenberry J, et al. 2014. Beverage caffeine intakes in the U.S. *Food and Chemical Toxicology* 63: 136-142.
- Moore B. 1951. The detection of enteric carriers in towns by means of sewage examination. *Journal of the Royal Sanitary Institute* 71: 57–60.
- Mwenesongole E, Gautam L, Hall S, et al. 2013. Simultaneous detection of controlled substances in waste water. *Analytical Methods* 13: 3248-3254.
- Nasser AM, Vaizel-Ohayon D, Aharoni A, et al. 2012. Prevalence and fate of Giardia cysts in wastewater treatment plants. *Journal of Applied Microbiology* 113: 477-484.
- Ndiaye AK, Diop PA, Diop OM. 2014. Environmental surveillance of poliovirus and non-polio enterovirus in urban sewage in Dakar, Senegal (2007-2013). *The Pan African Medical Journal* 19: 243.

Nuttall KL. 2004. Interpreting mercury in blood and urine of individual patients. *Annals of Clinical and Laboratory Science* 34: 235-250.

Nykel A, Kaszkowiak M, Fendler W et al. 2019. Chip-based digital PCR approach provides a sensitive and cost-effective single-day screening tool for common fetal aneuploidies - a proof of concept study. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 20: 5486.

- NZWERF. 2002. New Zealand Municipal Wastewater Monitoring Guidelines. Wellington: NZ Water Environment Research Foundation.
- O'Brien JW, Banks AP, Novic AJ, et al. 2017. Impact of in-sewer degradation of pharmaceutical and personal care products (PPCPs) population markers on a population model. *Environmental Science & Technology* 51: 3816-3823.
- Ort C, van Nuijs AL, Berset JD, et al. 2014. Spatial differences and temporal changes in illicit drug use in Europe quantified by wastewater analysis. *Addiction* 109: 1338-1352.
- Östman M, Fick J, Nasstrom E, et al. 2014. A snapshot of illicit drug use in Sweden acquired through sewage water analysis. *Science of the Total Environment* 472: 862-871.
- Osuolale O, Okoh A. 2017. Human enteric bacteria and viruses in five wastewater treatment plants in the Eastern Cape, South Africa. *Journal of Infection and Public Health* 10: 541-547.
- Panawennage D, Castiglioni S, Zuccato E, et al. 2011. Measurement of illicit drug consumption in small populations: prognosis for noninvasive drug testing of student populations. In: Illicit drugs in the environment: occurrence, analysis, and fate using mass spectrometry, ed. S Castiglioni, E Zuccato, R Fanelli, pp. 321-331. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley
- Parasa S, Desai M, Thoguluva Chandrasekar V, et al. 2020. Prevalence of gastrointestinal symptoms and fecal viral shedding in patients with coronavirus disease 2019: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Network Open* 3: e2011335.
- Polo D, Quintela-Baluja M, Corbishley A, et al. 2020. Making waves: wastewater-based epidemiology for COVID-19 approaches and challenges for surveillance and prediction. *Water Research* 186: 116404.
- Postigo C, de Alda ML, Barcelo D. 2011. Evaluation of drugs of abuse use and trends in a prison through wastewater analysis. *Environment International* 37: 49-55.
- Pritchard J, Hall W, Zuccato E, et al. 2016. *Ethical research guidelines for wastewater-based epidemiology and related fields*. Sewage Analysis Core Group Europe (SCORE).
- Psychoactive Substances Act. 2013.
- Qiu Y, Li Q, Lee BE, et al. 2018. UV inactivation of human infectious viruses at two full-scale wastewater treatment plants in Canada. *Water Research* 147: 73-81.
- Randazzo W, Truchado P, Cuevas-Ferrando E, et al. 2020. SARS-CoV-2 RNA in wastewater anticipated COVID-19 occurrence in a low prevalence area. *Water Research* 181: 115942.
- Rao WH, Evans GS, Finn A. 2001. The significance of interleukin 8 in urine. *Archives of Disease in Childhood* 85: 256-262.
- Reid MJ, Derry L, Thomas KV. 2014. Analysis of new classes of recreational drugs in sewage: synthetic cannabinoids and amphetamine-like substances. *Drug Testing and Analysis* 6: 72-79.
- Reinstadler V, Ausweger V, Grabher AL, et al. 2021. Monitoring drug consumption in Innsbruck during coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) lockdown by wastewater analysis. *Science of the Total Environment* 757: 144006.
- Rico M, Andrés-Costa MJ, Picó Y. 2017. Estimating population size in wastewater-based epidemiology. Valencia metropolitan area as a case study. *Journal of Hazardous Materials* 323: 156-165.
- Rimoldi SG, Stefani F, Gigantiello A, et al. 2020. Presence and infectivity of SARS-CoV-2 virus in wastewaters and rivers. *Science of the Total Environment* 744: 140911.

- Roberts E, Delgado Nunes V, Buckner S, et al. 2016. Paracetamol: not as safe as we thought? A systematic literature review of observational studies. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases* 75: 552-559.
- Roberts L. 2013. Infectious disease. Israel's silent polio epidemic breaks all the rules. *Science* 342: 679-680.
- Roberts PH, Thomas KV. 2006. The occurrence of selected pharmaceuticals in wastewater effluent and surface waters of the lower Tyne catchment. *Science of the Total Environment* 356: 143-153.
- Rodríguez-Álvarez T, Rodil R, Rico M, et al. 2014. Assessment of local tobacco consumption by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry sewage analysis of nicotine and its metabolites, cotinine and trans-3'-hydroxycotinine, after enzymatic deconjugation. *Analytical Chemistry* 86: 10274-10281.
- Rodríguez EA, Ramirez D, Balcázar JL, et al. 2021. Metagenomic analysis of urban wastewater resistome and mobilome: A support for antimicrobial resistance surveillance in an endemic country. *Environmental Pollution* 276: 116736.
- Salgueiro-González N, Castiglioni S, Gracia-Lor E, et al. 2019. Flexible high resolution-mass spectrometry approach for screening new psychoactive substances in urban wastewater. *Science of the Total Environment* 689: 679-690.
- Schang C, Crosbie ND, Nolan M, et al. 2021. Passive sampling of SARS-CoV-2 for wastewater surveillance. *Environmental Science and Technology* 55: 10432-10441.
- Senta I, Kostanjevečki P, Krizman-Matasic I, et al. 2019. Occurrence and behavior of macrolide antibiotics in municipal wastewater treatment: possible importance of metabolites, synthesis byproducts, and transformation products. *Environmental Science and Technology* 53: 7463-7472.
- Senta I, Krizman I, Ahel M, et al. 2015. Multiresidual analysis of emerging amphetamine-like psychoactive substances in wastewater and river water. *Journal of Chromatography A* 1425: 204-212.
- Shafi A, Berry AJ, Sumnall H, et al. 2020. New psychoactive substances: a review and updates. *Therapeutic Advances in Psychopharmacology* 10: 1-21.
- Sims N, Kasprzyk-Hordern B. 2020. Future perspectives of wastewater-based epidemiology: monitoring infectious disease spread and resistance to the community level. *Environment International* 139: 105689.
- Sommar JN, Hedmer M, Lundh T, et al. 2014. Investigation of lead concentrations in whole blood, plasma and urine as biomarkers for biological monitoring of lead exposure. *Journal of Exposure Science and Environmental Epidemiology* 24: 51-57.
- Southren AL, Gordon GG, Tochimoto S, et al. 1967. Mean plasma concentration, metabolic clearance and basal plasma production rates of testosterone in normal young men and women using a constant infusion procedure: effect of time of day and plasma concentration on the metabolic clearance rate of testosterone. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* 27: 686-694.
- Stuveling EM, Hillege HL, Bakker SJ, et al. 2003. C-reactive protein is associated with renal function abnormalities in a non-diabetic population. *Kidney International* 63: 654-661.
- Styszko K, Dudarska A, Zuba D. 2016. The presence of stimulant drugs in wastewater from Krakow (Poland): a snapshot. *Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology* 97: 310-315.
- Taha AS, Grant V, Kelly RW. 2003. Urinalysis for interleukin-8 in the non-invasive diagnosis of acute and chronic inflammatory diseases. *Postgraduate Medical Journal* 79: 159-163.
- Tao Z, Chen P, Cui N, et al. 2020. Detection of enteroviruses in urban sewage by next generation sequencing and its application in environmental surveillance. *Science of the Total Environment* 728: 138818.
- Terzić S, Senta I, Ahel M, et al. 2008. Occurrence and fate of emerging wastewater contaminants in Western Balkan Region. *Science of the Total Environment* 399: 66-77.

- Thai PK, Lai FY, Edirisinghe M, et al. 2016. Monitoring temporal changes in use of two cathinones in a large urban catchment in Queensland, Australia. *Science of the Total Environment* 545-546: 250-255.
- Thomas KV, Amador A, Baz-Lomba JA, et al. 2017. Use of mobile device data to better estimate dynamic population size for wastewater-based epidemiology. *Environmental Science and Technology* 51: 11363-11370.
- Thomas KV, Bijlsma L, Castiglioni S, et al. 2012. Comparing illicit drug use in 19 European cities through sewage analysis. *Science of the Total Environment* 432: 432-439.
- Thomas M, Tomlin A, Duffy E, et al. 2020. Reduced community antibiotic dispensing in New Zealand during 2015-2018: marked variation in relation to primary health organisation. *New Zealand Medical Journal* 133: 33-42.
- Tracy DK, Wood DM, Baumeister D. 2017. Novel psychoactive substances: types, mechanisms of action, and effects. *BMJ* 356: i6848.
- Tscharke BJ, White JM, Gerber JP. 2016a. Estimates of tobacco use by wastewater analysis of anabasine and anatabine. *Drug Testing and Analysis* 8: 702-707.
- Tscharke BJ, Chen C, Gerber JP, et al. 2016b. Temporal trends in drug use in Adelaide, South Australia by wastewater analysis. *Science of the Total Environment* 565: 384-391.
- United Nations. 2020. *World drug report 2020*. United Nations publication, Sales No. E.20.XI.6.
- Van der Aa M, Bijlsma L, Emke E, et al. 2013. Risk assessment for drugs of abuse in the Dutch watercycle. *Water Research* 47: 1848-1857.
- van Dyken E, Lai FY, Thai PK, et al. 2016. Challenges and opportunities in using wastewater analysis to measure drug use in a small prison facility. *Drug and Alcohol Review* 35: 138-147.
- van Nuijs AL, Castiglioni S, Tarcomnicu I, et al. 2011a. Illicit drug consumption estimations derived from wastewater analysis: a critical review. *Science of the Total Environment* 409: 3564-3577.
- van Nuijs AL, Mougel JF, Tarcomnicu I, et al. 2011b. Sewage epidemiology a real-time approach to estimate the consumption of illicit drugs in Brussels, Belgium. *Environment International* 37: 612-621.
- van Nuijs ALN, Gheoghe A, Jorens PG, et al. 2013. Optimization, validation, and the application of liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry for the analysis of new drugs of abuse in wastewater. *Drug Testing and Analysis* 6: 861-867.
- Vitale D, Suárez-Varela MM, Picó Y. 2021. Wastewater-based epidemiology, a tool to bridge biomarkers of exposure, contaminants, and human health. *Current Opinion in Environmental Science and Health* 20.
- Vuori E, Happonen M, Gergov M, et al. 2014. Wastewater analysis reveals regional variability in exposure to abused drugs and opioids in Finland. *Science of the Total Environment* 487: 688-695.
- Waage AS, Vardund T, Lund V, et al. 1999. Detection of small numbers of *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli* cells in environmental water, sewage, and food samples by a seminested PCR assay. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 65: 1636-1643.
- Warwick C, Guerreiro A, Soares A. 2013. Sensing and analysis of soluble phosphates in environmental samples: a review. *Biosensors and Bioelectronics* 41: 1-11.
- WHO. 2003. *Guidelines for environmental surveillance of poliovirus circulation*, Geneva: World Health Organisation. (No. WHO/V&B/03.03).
- WHO. 2007. Fourth WHO-coordinated survey of human milk for persistent organic pollutants in cooperation with UNEP: guidelines for developing a national protocol. Geneva: World Health Organisation.
- WHO. 2017. WHO guidelines on ethical issues in public health surveillance. Geneva: World Health Organisation.
- WHO. 2018a. *Global status report on alcohol and health 2018*. Geneva: World Health Organization. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

- WHO. 2018b. *Managing epidemics key facts about major deadly diseases*. Geneva: World Health Organisation.
- WHO. 2019. Report on the global tobacco epidemic, 2019. Geneva: World Health Organization. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.
- WHO. 2020a. Global antimicrobial resistance surveillance system (GLASS) report: early implementation 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.
- WHO. 2020b. Status of environmental surveillance for SARS-CoV-2 virus: scientific brief, 5 August 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization. License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.
- Wilkins C, Prasad J, Wong K, et al. 2015. *Recent trends in illegal drug use in New Zealand 2006-2014*. SHORE and Whariki Research Centre.
- Williamson DA, Roos RF, Verrall A. 2016. *Antibiotic consumption in New Zealand, 2006–2014.* Porirua: The Institute of Environmental Science and Research Ltd.
- Wu F, Zhang J, Xiao A, et al. 2020. SARS-CoV-2 titers in wastewater are higher than expected from clinically confirmed cases. *mSystems* 5.
- Wurtzer S, Marechal V, Mouchel JM, et al. 2020. Evaluation of lockdown effect on SARS-CoV-2 dynamics through viral genome quantification in waste water, Greater Paris, France, 5 March to 23 April 2020. *Eurosurveillance* 25.
- Zuccato E, Castiglioni S, Tettamanti M, et al. 2011. Changes in illicit drug consumption patterns in 2009 detected by wastewater analysis. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence* 118: 464-469.
- Zuccato E, Chiabrando C, Castiglioni S, et al. 2005. Cocaine in surface waters: a new evidence-based tool to monitor community drug abuse. *Environmental Health* 4:14.



INSTITUTE OF ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCE AND RESEARCH LIMITED

- Kenepuru Science Centre

 34 Kenepuru Drive, Kenepuru, Porirua 5022

 P0 Box 50348, Porirua 5240

 New Zealand

 T: +64 4 914 0700

 F: +64 4 914 0770
- Mt Albert Science Centre 120 Mt Albert Road, Sandringham, Auckland 1025 Private Bag 92021, Auckland 1142 New Zealand T: +64 9 815 3670 F: +64 9 849 6046
- NCBID Wallaceville

 66 Ward Street, Wallaceville, Upper Hutt 5018

 P0 Box 40158, Upper Hutt 5140

 New Zealand

 T: +64 4 529 0600

 F: +64 4 529 0601
- Christchurch Science Centre 27 Creyke Road, llam, Christchurch 8041 PO Box 29181, Christchurch 8540 New Zealand T: +64 3 351 6019 F: +64 3 351 0010

www.esr.cri.nz